

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Department of Applied Biology and Chemical Technology

Cellular and Molecular Characterization of Multiple Neuroprotections by Bis(propyl)-cognitin, A Promising Anti-Alzheimer's Dimer

HU Shengquan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

August 2013

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

HU Shengquan

Abstract

Neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's have emerged as a global issue, resulting in cognitive and behavioral problems, disability and economic burdens. Though their exact pathology remains unknown, neurodegenerative diseases are caused by, at least, inappropriate apoptosis as well as impairments in neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation. Compounds with anti-apoptotic property and neuronal differentiation-promoting activities could potentially have therapeutic significance against these devastating disorders.

Bis(propyl)-cognitin (B3C), a novel dimer derived from tacrine, has been shown as a multifunctional agent effectively against the key processes in neurodegenerative diseases on the basis of AChE inhibition and uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonism. Moreover, B3C has been demonstrated to exert neuroprotections in middle cerebral artery occlusion-induced brain damage in vivo. However, the detailed molecular mechanisms of neuroprotection remain to be further elucidated. In this research, the multiple neuroprotections and underlying mechanisms by which B3C protects against glutamate or potassium (K^{+}) deprivation-induced apoptosis in primary cultured cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs) were examined. In addition. the neuronal differentiation-promoting activity of B3C was also investigated using PC12 cells and primary cultured cortical neurons.

In primary cultures of CGN, B3C (IC₅₀, 0.45 μ M) substantially prevents glutamate-induced apoptosis with a potency approximately 10 times stronger

III

than memantine (IC₅₀, 4.58 μ M), an effective anti-Alzheimer's drug approved by the FDA on the basis of NMDA receptor blockade. The neuroprotection of B3C is found to be associated with the blockade of NMDA receptors and subsequent regulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathways. In addition, B3C remarkably protects against K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs independent of its AChE inhibition and NMDA receptor antagonism, but through reversing the inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) /Akt/ GSK3 β and VEGFR-2/ERK signaling pathways. Furthermore, B3C effectively induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells and primary cultured cortical neurons in a concentration- and time-dependent manner, as evidenced by the up-regulation of two neuron-specific protein markers growth-associated protein-43 and β III-tubulin, and the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C correlates with the activation of α 7-type nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7-nAChR).

In conclusion, B3C provides powerful neuroprotections by blocking NMDA receptor or activating VEGFR-2, and subsequently regulating pro-survival downstream signaling pathways. Moreover, B3C promotes neuronal differentiation by activating α 7-nAChR. All these results, taken together, offer not only novel molecular insights into the therapeutic potential of B3C, but also a new experimental approach for developing new agents to modify or slow down the disease progression of Alzheimer's and other related neurodegenerative disorders.

(396 words)

Publications arising from the thesis

- Hu S., Cui W., Xu D., Mak S., Tang J., Choi C., Pang Y. and Han Y. (2013) Substantial neuroprotection against K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in primary cerebellar granule neurons by novel dimer bis(propyl)-cognitin via the activation of VEGFR-2 signaling pathway. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 19, 764-72
- 2. Hu S., Cui W., Mak S., Tang J., Choi C., Pang Y. and Han Y. (2013) Bis(propyl)-cognitin protects against glutamate-induced neuro-excitotoxicity via concurrent regulation of NO, MAPK/ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3beta pathways. *Neurochem Int* 62, 468-477.
- Hu S., Han R., Mak S. and Han Y. (2011) Protection against
 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP⁺)-induced apoptosis by water
 extract of ginseng (Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer) in SH-SY5Y cells. J
 Ethnopharmacol 135, 34-42.
- 4. Hu S., Cui W., Xu D., Mak S., Tang J., Choi C., Pang Y. and Han Y. Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by bis(propyl)-cognitin through the activation of alpha7-nAChR. (*To be submitted*).
- 5. Cui W., Hu S., Chan H. H., Luo J., Li W., Mak S., Choi T. C., Rong J., Carlier P. R. and Han Y. (2012) Bis(12)-hupyridone, a novel acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, protects against glutamate-induced neuronal excitotoxicity via activating alpha7-nAChR/PI3-K/Akt cascade. *Chem Biol Interact 203, 365-70.* (Co-first author).

- 6. Cui W., Zhang Z., Li W., Hu S., Mak S., Zhang H., Han R., Yuan S., Li S., Sa F., Xu D., Lin Z., Zuo Z., Rong J., Ma E. D., Choi T. C., Lee S. M. and Han Y. (2012) The anti-cancer agent SU4312 unexpectedly protects against MPP(⁺) -induced neurotoxicity via selective and direct inhibition of neuronal NOS. *Br J Pharmacol* 168, 1201-1214.
- Cui W., Zhang Z., Li W., Mak S., Hu S., Zhang H., Yuan S., Rong J., Choi T. C., Lee S. M. and Han Y. (2012) Unexpected neuronal protection of SU5416 against 1-Methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion-induced toxicity via inhibiting neuronal nitric oxide synthase. *PLoS One* 7, e46253.
- Han R. W., Zhang R. S., Chang M., Peng Y. L., Wang P., Hu S., Choi C. L., Yin M., Wang R. and Han Y. (2012) Reversal of scopolamine-induced spatial and recognition memory deficits in mice by novel multifunctional dimers bis-cognitins. *Brain Res* 1470, 59-68.
- 9. Cui W., Cui G. Z., Li W., Zhang Z., Hu S., Mak S., Zhang H., Carlier P. R., Choi C. L., Wong Y. T., Lee S. M. and Han Y. (2011) Bis(12)-hupyridone, a novel multifunctional dimer, promotes neuronal differentiation more potently than its monomeric natural analog huperzine A possibly through alpha7 nAChR. *Brain Res* 1401, 10-17.
- 10. Zhang H., Mak S., Cui W., Li W., Han R., Hu S., Ye M., Pi R. and Han
 Y. (2011) Tacrine(2)-ferulic acid, a novel multifunctional dimer, attenuates 6-hydroxydopamine-induced apoptosis in PC12 cells by activating Akt pathway. *Neurochem Int* 59, 981-988.

Acknowledgements

Three years of PhD life has been a journey full of hardship and happiness. During these years, I have learned a tremendous amount both on a scientific and personal level, and I am indebted to so many people.

First and foremost, I am truly blessed to have professor Yifan HAN as my supervisor. He shared with me a lot of his experience, provided his guidance whenever I needed it. I can not describe in words how instrumental he has been in my personal, professional and scientific development.

I would express my gratitude to Drs. Wei CUI and Chunglit CHOI for their scientific suggestions in every possible way throughout my study.

I am really fortunate to have been blessed with such wonderful lab mates-Mr. Shinghung MAK, Ms Huan ZHANG and Mr. Daping XU. Right from technical support to active cooperation, they have always been here. It is also an enjoyable period to work with Dr. Yanxiang ZHAO's lab, including Dr. Xiaohua LI, Mr. Wenchao LIU, Ms Yunjiao HE, Mr. Xuehua PAN, Mr. Shuai WU. Interacting with them always brightened my day.

I am also heartily thankful to Ms. Josephine LEUNG for careful proof-reading of my manuscripts.

I would like to thank the related personnels from Research Office, especially Ms Jenny CHAN. Thanks for your patience when I frequently asked the questions from my initial registration to the dissertation phase in PolyU.

Last, I wish to thank my family from my heart. Great thanks to my mom

VIII

and dad, my wife Chunrong TANG and my little baby. Without their spiritual support and encouragement, I will achieve nothing.

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY	II
Abstract	III
Publications arising from the thesis	VI
AcknowledgementsVI	Π
Table of contents	Х
List of figuresXI	Π
List of abbreviationsX	V
Chapter 1 Introduction	.1
Overview	.2
1.1 Alzheimer's disease (AD)	.4
1.1.1 Risk factors	.5
1.1.1.1 Age	.5
1.1.1.2 Genetics	.6
1.1.1.3 Education	.7
1.1.1.4 Coexisting health problems	.7
1.1.1.5 Gender	7
1.1.2 Hypothesis for the pathology of AD	.8
1.1.2.1 Cholinergic dysfunction and AChE toxicity	.8
1.1.2.2 Aβ cascade hypothesis	.9
1.1.2.3 Tau phosphorylation	.9
1.1.2.4 Glutamate excitotoxicity	10
1.1.2.5 Oxidative stress and metal ion homeostasis	12
1.1.2.6 Neurotrophic factor deficiency	12
1.1.3 Therapeutical strategies for AD	13
1.1.3.1 AChE inhibitors	13
1.1.3.2 Therapies targeting A β and tau	14
1.1.3.3 NMDA receptor antagonist	15
1.1.3.4 Antioxidant	15
1.1.3.5 Neurotrophic factors	16
1.1.3.6 Other potential treatments	16
1.1.4 Apoptosis	19
1.1.4.1 Apoptosis in AD	19
1.1.4.2 Signaling pathways involved in glutamate-induced neuron	al
apoptosis	19
1.1.4.3 Signaling pathways involved in potassium (K	(*)
deprivation-induced neuronal apoptosis	23
1.1.5 Neuronal differentiation	24
1.2 Other neurodegenerative disorders	25
1.2.1 Parkinson's disease	25
1.2.2 Huntington's disease	26
1.3 Bis(propyl)-cognitinnovel dimer derived from tacrine	27
1.3.1 B3C acts as an Uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist with Fa	ıst

Table of contents

Off-rate (UFO)
1.3.2 B3C provides neuroprotections in scopolamine and middle cerebral
artery occlusion-induced brain damage
1.4 The aim of the study
Chapter 2 Materials and Methods
2.1 Chemicals and reagents
2.2 Primary culture of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs)
2.3 Primary culture of cortical neurons
2.4 Drug treatment of CGNs
2.5 PC12 cell culture
2.6 α7-nAChR gene knockdown
2.7 Quantitative assessment of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells
2.8 Determination of cell viability
2.9 Assay of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release
2.10 Image analysis of FDA/PI staining
$2.11\ {\rm Morphological\ observation\ of\ nuclear\ change\ by\ Hoechst\ 33342\ staining\ .40}$
2.12 Analysis of DNA fragmentation40
2.13 Measurement of intracellular NO41
2.14 Immunocytochemical staining
2.15 Image acquisition and analysis
2.16 Western blot
2.17 Data analysis and statistics
Chapter 3 Results
3.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs via
concurrent regulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathways,
downstream of NMDA receptors45
3.1.1 B3C prevents glutamate-induced excitotoxicity more potently than
memantine46
3.1.2 B3C blocks glutamate-induced apoptosis more substantially than
memantine
3.1.3 B3C potently inhibits the increased intracellular NO induced by
glutamate
3.1.4 B3C potently suppresses the activation of ERK pathway caused by
glutamate
3.1.5 B3C potently reverses the inhibition of PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathway
caused by glutamate
3.1.6 Pharmacological inhibition of NOS, ERK and GSK3 β provides
synergistic neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity
3.2 B3C protects against K' deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs via the
activation of VEGFR-2 signaling pathway
5.2.1 B3C blocks cell death in CGNs induced by K ^{$+$} deprivation
5.2.2 B3C inhibits apoptosis in CGNs induced by K deprivation
3.2.3 The neuroprotection of B3C against K deprivation is independently

3.2.4 B3C reverses the inhibition of VEGFR-2 caused by K^+ deprivation68
3.2.5 B3C reverses the inhibition of Akt and ERK pathways caused by K^+
deprivation70
3.3 B3C promotes neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells via the activation of
α7-nAChR
3.3.1 Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by B3C77
3.3.2 Promotion of neurite outgrowth in primary cortical neurons by B3C81
3.3.3 Synergistic neurite outgrowth induced by B3C plus NGF or dbcAMP
3.3.4 Activation of ERK pathway, but not P38 and JNK pathway, is
associated with the neurite outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C85
3.3.5 Pharmacological inhibition of α 7-nAChR partially abolishes the neurite
outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C
3.3.6 Gene knockdown of a7-nAChR partially abolishes the neurite
outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C
Chapter 4 Discussion
4.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs via
concurrent regulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3ß pathways94
4.2 B3C protects against K ⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis via the activation of
VEGFR-2
4.3 B3C induces neuronal differentiation in PC12 cells via the activation of
α7-nAChR
4.4 Summary and conclusions
References

List of figures

Fig. 1.1 Schematic diagram for the pro-apoptotic signaling pathways induced by
the over-activation of NMDA receptor 11
Fig. 1.2 Current drug development in AD18
Fig. 1.3 Signaling pathways involved in glutamate excitotoxicity22
Fig. 3.1.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity 10 times more
potently than memantine 47
Fig. 3.1.2 B3C attenuates glutamate-induced apoptosis more substantially than
memantine 50
Fig. 3.1.3 B3C potently suppresses the increase in the level of intracellular NO
caused by glutamate 52
Fig. 3.1.4 B3C inhibits the activation of ERK pathway caused by glutamate 54
Fig. 3.1.5 B3C potently reverses the attenuation of PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathway
caused by glutamate 56
Fig. 3.1.6 Pharmacological inhibition of NOS, ERK pathways and GSK3 β
activity produces a synergistic neuroprotective effect against glutamate-induced
excitotoxicity in CGNs 58
Fig. 3.2.1 B3C effectively blocks neuronal death in CGNs induced by $K^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$
deprivation 62
Fig. 3.2.2 B3C substantially attenuates the hallmark of apoptosis in CGNs
induced by K ⁺ deprivation 64
Fig. 3.2.3 The neuroprotection of B3C is independently associated with AChE

inhibition and NMDA receptor antagonism	67
Fig. 3.2.4 B3C reverses the inhibition of VEGFR-2 caused by K^+ deprivation	69
Fig. 3.2.5 B3C reverses the inhibition of the PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathway cause	sed
by K ⁺ deprivation	72
Fig. 3.2.6 B3C reverses the inhibition of the ERK pathway caused by	\mathbf{K}^+
deprivation	74
Fig. 3.3.1 Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by B3C	78
Fig. 3.3.2 Differentiation of PC12 cells toward a neuronal phenotype induced	by
B3C	80
Fig. 3.3.3 Promotion of neurite outgrowth in cortical neurons by B3C	82
Fig. 3.3.4 Synergistic neurite outgrowth induced by B3C plus NGF or dbcAN	MP
	85
Fig. 3.3.5 Activation of ERK pathway is involved in the neur	rite
outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C	86
Fig. 3.3.6 Pharmacological inhibition of α 7-nAChR partially abrogates	the
neurite outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C	87
Fig. 3.3.7 α 7-nAChR depletion partially abrogates the neur	rite
outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C	91
Fig. 4.1 The molecular mechanisms underlying the multiple activities of B	3C
1	111

List of abbreviations

α7-nAChR	Alpha7-type nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
Αβ	Amyloid β peptide
ACh	Acetylcholine
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ApoE	Apolipoprotein E
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
Atr	Atropine
B3C	Bis(propyl)-cognitin
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CGN	Cerebellar granule neuron
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
CNS	Central nervous system
dbcAMP	2'-O-dibutyryladenosine 3':5' cyclic monophosphate
DHE	Dihydro-β-erythroidine
DIV	Days in vitro
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
E2020	Donepezil
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FDA	Fluorescein diacetate

GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GAP-43	Growth associated protein 43
Glu	Glutamate
GSK3 β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3β
HD	Huntington's disease
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
L-NMMA	N ^G -monomethyl-L-arginine
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MK801	5H-dibenzo[a, d]cyclohepten-5, 10-imine
MLA	Methyllycaconitine
MTT	3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium
	bromide
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NSAIDS	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PD	Parkinson's disease
PI3-K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

PS	Presenilin
РТК	PTK787/ZK222584
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
UFO	Uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist with Fast
	Off-rate
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SEM	Standard error of the mean
V	Voltage
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR-2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2

Chapter 1

Introduction

Overview

As the population ages, numerous people tend to get Alzheimer's disease (AD) and other related neurodegenerative diseases. There are still no effective treatments for preventing, slowing down or curing the devastating diseases, and they can only be symptomatically modified. Regardless of the variety of pathology, neurodegenerative disorders are characterized by a selective and progressive cell death in specific neuronal populations in the central nervous system (Chaudhuri and Paul 2006; Lin and Beal 2006). Increasing lines of evidence indicate that the neuronal death is caused, at least partially, by inappropriate initiation of apoptotic signaling pathways (Mattson 2000; Ekshyyan and Aw 2004). Neuroprotection is an approach or strategy adopted to prevent neurons against neurotoxin insults through either directly antagonizing neurotoxins or indirectly blocking the downstream signals of neurotoxins. Based on the fact that apoptotic neurons could be recovered even after the neurotoxins' insult, molecules that display anti-apoptotic activities could provide potential therapeutic use against these devastating diseases (Schober 2004; Jana and Paliwal 2007).

In addition to neuroprotection by the inhibition of apoptosis, neurogenesis is considered to be another potential therapeutic strategy for these diseases. Several endogenous neurotrophic factors, including nerve growth factor (NGF) (Pardridge 2002), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Mattson 2008) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Jin et al. 2002), have been identified as a contributor to enhance neurogenesis or neuronal differentiation, and thus are likely to be promising agents for ameliorating neurodegeneration. However, the peptidyl properties of neurotrophic factors have brought about a few serious difficulties to be overcome, *e.g.*, poor penetration through the blood-brain barrier (Thoenen and Sendtner 2002), and therefore limit its further developments as anti-neurodegenerative drugs. Accordingly, compounds that could enhance neurogenesis or neuronal differentiation may have potential therapeutic usage for these neurodegenerative diseases.

Bis(propyl)-cognitin (B3C), a multifunctional dimer derived from tacrine (Carlier et al. 1999) is designed and synthesized in our team. Recently, it has been demonstrated to be a multifunctional agent for the treatment of AD and other neurodegenerative diseases on the basis of MEF2D activation (Yao et al. 2012), uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonism (Luo et al. 2010; Hu et al. 2013) and AChE inhibition (Carlier et al. 1999). In addition, B3C has been shown to exert neuroprotections in scopolamine (Han et al. 2012) and middle cerebral artery occlusion-induced brain damages (Luo et al. 2010) in rodents.

In the following study of literature review, AD, a representative of neurodegenerative diseases, is first presented on its pathology and current available pharmacological treatments. Subsequently, the relationship between AD and glutamate-mediated NMDA receptor over-activation, neuronal apoptosis and neuronal differentiation, in particular, are selected as research background in this study in detail. Second, the pathology of another two neurodegenerative

3

diseases (PD and HD) are briefly introduced. Most importantly, the research results on B3C will be analyzed and discussed in detail.

1.1 Alzheimer's disease

AD, first described by the German psychiatrist and neuropathologist Alois Alzheimer in 1906, is a progressive and degenerative brain disorder and represents the most common form of dementia among old adults (Kingwell 2013). It is estimated that approximately 35 million people get AD worldwide today, with 4.6 million new sufferers per year (Ferri et al. 2005; Selkoe 2012). China faces increasing numbers of AD and the number of AD patients is predicted to reach 26.1 million in 2040 (Ferri et al. 2005). The prevalence of AD rapidly increases with age, affecting approximately 9 % of people over age 65, and over 40 % of people aged 80 (Ferri et al. 2005). In addition, AD places a heavy burden on family and society both emotionally and financially. Costs for formal and informal care are estimated to reach to \$ 62,189 per patient (Rice et al. 2001).

AD could be classified into two forms: familial and sporadic forms (Piaceri et al. 2013). Generally, AD is considered to be familial when one or more family members suffer, while sporadic refers to those when no other cases have been identified in extended family members. No more than 10 % of AD is familiar with the rest being sporadic. AD could be also divided into early- and late-onset forms (Joshi et al. 2012; Pievani et al. 2013). Early-onset AD denotes onset of the disease when individuals develop AD before the age of 65, while late-onset AD means onset after 65. It is estimated that 90 % of familial AD belongs to late-onset forms, while almost all cases of sporadic AD are considered to be late-onset.

AD is clinically characterized by a gradual decline in memory and cognitive function, especially damaged memory, problems with language and communication, and finally decreased ability in performing activities of daily living (Pereira et al. 2005). The neuropathological hallmarks of AD include senile plaques (SP, β –amyloid fibrils deposits), neurofibrillary tangles (NFT, self-assembled hyperphosphorylated tau proteins bundles) and progressive neuronal loss in hippocampus (Selkoe 2001). Despite the rapid and enormous progress made in AD research over the past few decades, the detailed mechanisms underlying the pathology of AD still remain to be further elucidated, and no effective drug therapy is yet available. Up to now, three acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitors and one NMDA receptor antagonist have been approved by U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of AD (Doraiswamy and Xiong 2006).

1.1.1 Risk factors

1.1.1.1 Age

Age is generally considered as one of the strongest risk factors responsible for the occurrence of AD. In sporadic AD, risk increases with age after 65. For those over 80, the number dramatically increases to 40 %.

1.1.1.2 Genetics

The well-characterized link between AD and genetics is observed in familial early-onset AD (Herz 2007). There are totally three genes involved. The gene of β -amyloid precursor protein (APP) located on chromosome 21 is normally cleaved to form small amounts of β -amyloid (A β). While, mutations in APP cause incorrect cleavage of this gene, resulting in the generation of AB species that is more inclined to aggregate into amyloid plaques (Goedert and Spillantini 2006). APP mutation constitutes 10-15 % familial early-onset AD cases. Presenilin (PS) 1 and PS2 located on chromosome 14 and 1 translate PS1 and PS2 proteins to form γ -secretases complex for the cleavage of APP. Mutations in both PS1 and PS2 also result in incorrect cleavage of APP, in association with the occurence of familial early-onset cases, with the proportion of 30-70 % and 5 %, respectively. Familial early-onset AD is an autosomally inherited condition, suggesting that inheritance of any one mutant allele of APP, PS1 and PS2 will increase the chance of getting AD. Thus, children with an affected parent may get a 50 % chance of inheriting these mutations and developing this disease (Goedert and Spillantini 2006).

The ε4 allele of the apolipoprotein E (ApoE) gene, located on chromosome 19, has been identified as a biggest genetic risk factor for the occurrence of sporadic late-onset AD cases (Yamagata et al. 2001; Lambert et al. 2002).

6

Individuals carrying two ApoE ɛ4 alleles are considered to have a 30 % chance of developing sporadic late-onset AD (Herz 2007).

1.1.1.3 Education

A recent study from Aging Research Center of Sweden has demonstrated that poorly educated people appear to be at a high risk of developing AD (Ngandu et al. 2007). Regardless of the precise mechanism, it is theorized that a higher education facilitates the formation or strengthening of synaptic connections among neurons in the brain. The process creates a "synaptic reserve" in the brain, enabling individuals to compensate for the loss of neurons and thus decrease the likelihood of the occurrence of AD.

1.1.1.4 Coexisting health problems

Epidemiological findings have indicated that high blood pressure, high cholesterol level and/or heart disease are associated with the high risk of developing AD. This can be explained by the damage to many blood vessels in the brain and subsequent occurrence of brain tissue death. In addition, inefficiency or resistance of insulin may, to some extent, increase the risk of developing AD (Pereira et al. 2005).

1.1.1.5 Gender

Women are naturally more inclined to get AD than men due to estrogen

deficiency or other yet unknown reasons (Alberca et al. 2002).

1.1.2 Hypothesis for the pathogenesis of AD

1.1.2.1 Cholinergic dysfunction and AChE toxicity

The cholinergic hypothesis, on which most existing anti-AD drugs are based, indicates that AD is caused by the reduction in the synthesis or production of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh). In addition to the dramatic loss of cholinergic neurons, a significant decline in choline acetyltransferase (CHAT) and an remarkable increase in AChE are found in AD patients brains (Auld et al. 2002).

AChE is usually regarded as an enzyme that plays a vital role in hydrolyzing ACh in the synaptic cleft and terminating the action of ACh. However, recent studies show that the AChE is a multifunctional protein in additional to its hydrolyzation capability (Inestrosa et al. 2005). This involves that the intracellular AChE participates in neuronal apoptosis induced by neurotoxins insults (Zhang et al. 2002). In the brain of AD patients, the expression of AChE protein is decreased, while AChE activity, to a large extent, experiences a significant enhancement around the A β plaques, which may be explained by the interaction of AChE and A β (Talesa 2001). Furthermore, with the specific motif in the peripheral site, AChE is able to promote A β aggregation (Talesa 2001; Inestrosa et al. 2005). As such, AChE inhibitors could potentially slowdown the progress of AD through simultaneously restoring cholinergic system and inhibiting $A\beta$ aggregation.

1.1.2.2 Aβ cascade hypothesis

A β , an about 4 KD protein, is generated from APP through "amyloidogenic pathway" in which APP is sequentially cleaved by β - and γ -secretases rather than α -secretase (Pereira et al. 2005). The A β cascade hypothesis has maintained widespread support. It proposes that AD is fundamentally caused by A β deposits. The demonstration that the mutations in related genes enable the over-generation of A β , together with the *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies that A β aggregates, oligomers in particular, is very neurotoxic to neurons (Pereira et al. 2004; Feng et al. 2009), comprise the convincing and compelling evidence for supporting the role of A β hypothesis in AD.

Increasing lines of evidence demonstrate that soluble A β oligomers, rather than insoluble A β plaques, represent the primary pathogenic form of A β . Oligomeric A β assemblies (A β -derived diffusible ligands, ADDL), are blamed for the interruption of synaptic plasticity, the basis for cognitive and memory formation. Soluble A β oligomers are highly expressed in AD brains (Gong et al. 2003) within synaptic compartments (Takahashi et al. 2004) in the absence of insoluble A β plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, indicating that oligomeric A β accumulates at the beginning or very early stage of AD.

1.1.2.3 Tau phosphorylation

Tau protein is a microtubule-associated protein abundant in the central nervous system and maintains neuronal morphology. However, recent studies have demonstrated that abnormal tau proteins, which are hyperphosphorylated either by GSK3 β or cyclin dependent-kinase 5 (Cdk5) (Pereira et al. 2005), lead to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles and the degradation of the cytoskeleton and finally neurodegeneration.

1.1.2.4 Glutamate excitotoxicity

Glutamate, a major excitatory neurotransmitter, is responsible for the formation of memory. In the physiological process, glutamate binds to its specific receptors, either ionotropic (NMDA, AMPA and KA receptors) or metabotropic receptors, to fulfill numerous physiological functions in learning and memory. However, over-activation of NMDA receptors by excessive glutamate results in the continuous influx Ca^{2+} , and subsequently leads to oxidative stress or mitochondria dysfunction and ultimately neuronal death (Fig. 1.1) (Forder and Tymianski 2009). In addition, since glutamatergic neurons are also affected by other neurotransmitters, e.g. serotonin, γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) or ACh, which are also abnormal in AD process, different synaptically intercalated neurotransmitter systems might produce a synergistic effect against cognitive deficits or memory loss.



Fig. 1.1 Schematic diagram for the pro-apoptotic signaling pathways induced by the over-activation of NMDA receptor.

The glutamate excitotoxicity cascade includes (a) over-activation of NMDA receptor by excessive glutamate; (b) activation of MAPK pathway; (c) initiation of apoptosis-inducing enzymes, including caspases and apoptosis inducing factors (AIF); (d) activation of harmful free radicals including NO and ROS (Seki and Lipton 2008).

1.1.2.5 Oxidative stress and metal ion homeostasis

A mass of oxidative stress markers, accompanying SP and NFT, are found in AD patients brains (Reddy 2009), strongly suggesting the involvement of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of AD. Increasing lines of evidence have demonstrated that A β not only acts as a source, but also as a consequence of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of AD. A β toxicity correlates well with the increase in intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Varadarajan et al. 2000), oxidative stress also enables APP processing in an amyloidogenic way, leading to the over-production of A β species (Misonou et al. 2000). This suggests that the process can enter a potential vicious cycle whereby oxidative stress promotes the toxicity of A β , and A β facilitates the generation of more oxidative stress, neuronal homeostasis failure, and ultimately neuronal death.

Metal ion homeostasis is seriously dysregulated in AD brains and has been proved to be closely linked to oxidative stress. Zinc, iron and copper are highly increased within senile plaques in AD brains (Pereira et al. 2005). These metals bind to A β , promote A β aggregation, increase A β toxicity and enhance metal-catalysed oxidative stress.

1.1.2.6 Neurotrophic factor deficiency

Neurotrophic factors are small, versatile proteins that control neuronal survival, differentiation and synaptic plasticity, and play a vital role in cognition and memory formation (Schindowski et al. 2008). Neurotrophins are initially synthesized as pro-neurotrophins, while they appears to function contradictorily: neurotrophins maintain survival and function to specific neuronal populations through binding to TrkA, TrkB, TrkC, specific tyrosine kinases receptors, while pro-neurotrophins trigger neuronal death by binding of p75^{NTR} (Friedman 2000). For instance, pro-nerve growth factor (NGF) is increased in the frontal cortex and in hippocampus in the brain of AD patients, while NGF is decreased in the terminals of affected neurons in AD brains. In the absence of NGF, cholinergic neurons shrink and display down-regulation of neurotransmitter-associated enzymes such as ChAT, resulting in a dysfunction of cholinergic neurons (Svendsen et al. 1991). In parallel, AD rats showing a serious decline in ChAT and TrkA mRNA can be restored following NGF treatment (Venero et al. 1994).

1.1.3 Therapeutical strategies for AD

Though the precise mechanisms of AD still remain unclear, drug companies and institutions have been actively pursuing novel anti-AD drugs (Fig.1.2).

1.1.3.1 AChE inhibitors

By enhancing the concentration of neurotransmitter ACh in synaptic clefts, AChE inhibitors, which represent the main branch of anti-AD drugs, have been widely used for the treatment of AD. Totally, there are three currently available AChE inhibitors approved by FDA as anti-AD drugs, including Aricept® (donepezil, 1996), Exelon® (rivastigmine, 2000) and Razadyne® (galantamine, 2001) (Michaelis 2003). Cognex® (tacrine, 1993) is now rarely used due to its liver toxicity. More encouragingly, huperzine A, an alkaloid compound originally extracted from a Chinese medicinal herb *Huperzia serrata* (Qian ceng ta), has been approved to treat AD in China due to its strong AChE inhibition. However, huperzine A has not been widely used because of a lack of intellectual property protection, a shortage of natural supply and a difficulty in chemical synthesis (Wang et al. 2009).

1.1.3.2 Therapies targeting Aβ and tau

Since the rise of A β hypothesis in 1990, the use of β -secretase (BACE-1) and γ -secretase inhibitors have been actively pursued by the research institutions. However, the demonstration that β - and γ -secretases catalyze reactions involving multiple substrates (Notch receptor, ErbB4, p75NTR receptor) limits their further development as anti-AD drugs (Citron 2004). Due to these difficulties, there are no FDA approved drugs that target both enzymes and the discounted rate in clinical trial is high. Even so, a few β - and γ -secretase inhibitors, such as LY-2434074 (Eli Lilly) and avagacestat (BMS) are being actively developed and tested in clinical trials (Mangialasche et al. 2010).

In addition, both lithium and valproate, potent GSK3 β inhibitors involved in the phosphorylation of tau protein, have been demonstrated to be effective in an AD animal model (Perez et al. 2003), and has been moved to clinical trial stage (Hampel et al. 2009). Other agents which could inhibit the aggregation of tau protein or promote the disassembly of tau aggregates are also being actively pursued (Mangialasche et al. 2010).

1.1.3.3 NMDA receptor antagonist

In light of the glutamatergic system dysfunction hypothesis in the pathogenesis of AD, NMDA receptor antagonists are also designed and developed. Memantine (Namenda), approved by FDA in 2003, is an uncompetitive moderate affinity NMDA receptor antagonist with UFO property. Memantine preferentially blocks extrasynaptic over synaptic NMDA receptors in hippocampus (Xia et al. 2010), suggesting that it might prevent pathological excitotoxicity without affecting the physiological processes. Compared to AChE inhibitors, memantine shows a modest benefit against moderate-to-severe AD by slowing down the deterioration of cognitive functions (Rogawski and Wenk 2003; Hellweg et al. 2012).

1.1.3.4 Antioxidant

Oxidative stress markers is found within AD patients brains, treatment with antioxidants is therefore believed to be a promising approach in AD therapy (Gilgun-Sherki et al. 2003; Aliev et al. 2008; Mecocci and Polidori 2012). Recent findings indicate a tight link between antioxidant supplements and reduced occurrence of AD. A few antioxidants, including resveratrol, curcumin, green tea, vitamin C, E and ginkgo biloba extract, have been widely used in dementia therapy (Frank and Gupta 2005). Ginkgo biloba has been demonstrated to be slightly, but significantly effective in comparison to placebo groups with AD (Oken et al. 1998; Carlson et al. 2007). Its standardized extract EGb761 has been widely used in Europe to improve memory and cognitive problems. In addition, vitamin E supplements have been added to the standard treatment regimen of AD by more and more practitioners (Kontush and Schekatolina 2004; Pham and Plakogiannis 2005; Isaac et al. 2008; Kontush and Schekatolina 2008).

1.1.3.5 Neurotrophic factors

Neurogenesis occurs in the adult brain in the hippocampus, the subgranular zone (SGZ) and the subventricular zone (SVZ), as a response to injury. Cholinergic neurons in basal forebrain need neurotrophic factors such as NGF for survival, neurite outgrowth, and modulation of transmitter-specific enzymes. Recent research have indicated a causal link between NGF imbalance and neurodegeneration in AD (Cattaneo et al. 2008), thus the boosting of NGF and other neurotrophins to combat against AD represents a new direction in the therapy of AD. NGF delivery was tested and an overall lower rate of cognitive decline was accordingly observed (Tuszynski et al. 2005).

1.1.3.6 Other potential treatments

Estrogen deficiency may contribute to the occurrence of AD in postmenopausal women (Levine and Battista 2004; Mulnard et al. 2004).

Estrogen supplement therapy has thus shown some benefits in women with familial AD through modulating ApoE gene, increasing the metabolism of APP or the formation of synapses, and inhibiting oxidative stress (Brinton et al. 2000; Miller et al. 2001).

Several lines of evidence indicate the involvement of the inflammation in the form of cytokines and microglial activation in AD pathogenesis (Ferencik et al. 2001), which is responded by a series of clinical trials with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (Gasparini et al. 2004; Imbimbo 2009).

Besides, there is evidence in support of several non pharmacological strategies, such as exercise, music and behavior therapy, which reverse, to some extent, the functional and behavioral deterioration (Nithianantharajah and Hannan 2009).



Fig. 1.2 Current drug development in AD (Mangialasche et al. 2010).
1.1.4 Apoptosis

1.1.4.1 Apoptosis in AD

In the developing nervous system, apoptosis maintains cell homoeostasis and plays a vital role in various biological processes, including neural tube formation and the establishment of appropriate neuronal circuitry (Raff et al. 1993). The other side of the coin, however, is that excessive apoptosis of neurons in adult brains results in the neurological dysfunctions of the nervous system, as suggested for AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Mattson 2000). A growing body of evidence indicates apoptosis represents the final common pathway for neuronal degeneration (Raina et al. 2003). There are various pro-apoptotic neurotoxins and/or stimuli present in the pathogenesis of AD and other neurodegenerative diseases, which may either act by themselves or synergistically to result in an activation of the apoptotic death pathway, such as glutamate, A β , oxidative stress (Fang et al. 2005; Onyango et al. 2005). In vivo studies have shown that neurons, in hippocampus or cortex in particular, may die of apoptosis in AD (Shimohama 2000). Based on the fact that apoptotic neurons can still be recovered even after the neurotoxins insult, molecules displaying anti-apoptotic activities may constitute a promising approach in the therapy of AD (Bachis et al. 2001; Li et al. 2007).

1.1.4.2 Signaling pathways involved in glutamate-induced neuronal apoptosis

Glutamate excitotoxicity represents a vital contributing factor that underlies the

pathogenesis of AD (Butterfield and Pocernich 2003; Francis 2003). Pathologically, abnormal release of glutamate over-activates NMDA receptors on the postsynaptic neurons (Li and Tsien 2009), causes abnormal influx of Ca^{2+} and subsequent neuronal deaths. Several signaling pathways, including nitric oxide (NO) pathway (Li et al. 2007), extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway (Li et al. 2005) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-K)/Akt/GSK3 β pathway (Pi et al. 2004), are believed to play key role in glutamate-induced excitotoxicity and act as the downstream pathways of intracellular accumulation of Ca^{2+} .

The over-stimulation of NMDA receptor/NO pathway has been well documented in AD pathology (Fig. 1.1) (Li et al. 2007). Over-production of NO, generated by neuronal NO synthase (nNOS) anchored to NMDA receptor through postsynaptic density protein-95-NMDA receptor coupling protein, mediates the downstream pathways of NMDA receptor and leads to neuronal death (Boje 2004; Lipton 2004). Thus, nNOS inhibitors and NO scavengers have been demonstrated to be effective against glutamate insult and considered as potent anti-Alzheimer's candidates (Lipton 2004; Willmot et al. 2005).

ERK pathway involves a series of proteins within the neuron, which transfers an extracellular signal from the receptors on the membrane to the DNA in the nucleus. In AD condition (Fig. 1.3), the over-activation of NMDA receptor subsequently activates Ras via Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent activation of Ras-GRF, and other core units, such as Raf (mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase, MAPKKK), MEK1/2 (mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase, MAPKK) and ERK1/2

(mitogen-activated protein kinase, MAPK), are in turn activated. The activated ERK molecule then transfers the received signals into the nucleus, induces gene change and eventually leads to neuronal death (Kolch 2000).

On the contrary, PI3-K/Akt cascade is a crucial pro-survival pathway which is inhibited in glutamate-induced excitotoxicity (Fig. 1.3). Akt (Protein kinase B, PKB), acts as a downstream target of PI3-K and are responsible for multiple biological processes. Generally, activated Akt protein phosphorylates substrates in the cytoplasm, and then increases cell survival by inhibiting apoptotic processes. For instance, Akt is able to inhibit GSK3 activity through the phosphorylation of GSK-3 at Ser21 in GSK-3 α or Ser9 in GSK-3 β . Recently, much effort is actively directed towards the inhibition of GSK3 activity to protect neurons against neurotoxin insults. However, the relationship among NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathways in glutamate-induced neurotoxicity has not yet been explored.



Fig. 1.3 Signaling pathways involved in glutamate excitotoxicity.

Some intracellular signaling pathways, namely Ca²⁺/CaMK and ERK, are proposed to trigger neuronal apoptosis after glutamate insult. Other cascades, such as PI3-K/Akt pathway, are believed to protect against glutamate challenge (Chatterton et al. 2002).

1.1.4.3 Signaling pathways involved in potassium (K⁺) deprivation-induced neuronal apoptosis

During early neural development, the neuron-fate decision involves its interaction with the changing microenvironment in CNS. Normally, the two most important factors affecting neuronal fate are the presence and the amount of neurotrophic factors as well as appropriate neuronal activity. More specifically, either the deficiency of neurotrophic factors or the blockage of electrical activity of specific types of neurons could induce excessive apoptosis.

Primary cultured rat cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs) represent a highly homogeneous neuronal population, which has been employed as a widely used *in vitro* model to study the molecular mechanisms underlying neuronal apoptosis. Normally, freshly dissociated CGNs survive, differentiate and mature *in vitro* when the neurons are subjected to medium containing serum and/or K⁺ (depolarizing concentrations, 25 mM, 25K). On the contrary, withdrawing serum or reducing K⁺ to 5 mM (K⁺ deprivation, 5K) would induce apoptosis in CGNs (Ramiro-Cortes and Moran 2009). Though the precise mechanisms that underlie the apoptotic process of CGNs remain to be further explained, inhibition of PI3-K/Akt (Mora et al. 2001) and ERK pathways (Zhong et al. 2004; Severini et al. 2008), activation of caspases cascades (Mora et al. 2001) and abnormal generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Atlante et al. 2010) are believed to be implicated in the neuronal apoptosis.

Though the process of K^+ deprivation-triggered neuronal death is not directly involved in the pathogenesis of AD, the molecular mechanisms underlying neuronal

apoptosis could be, to some extent, shared between the apoptotic processes induced by K^+ deprivation and that by neurotoxins associated with AD. Neuroprotective compounds that can protect against K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs are considered to be attractive candidates for AD and related neurodegenerative disorders (Uryu et al. 2002; Zhong et al. 2007).

1.1.5 Neuronal differentiation

Because of the tight link between neuronal loss and the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disease, in addition to agents with anti-apoptotic property, novel compounds that can promote neural differentiation might have therapeutic significance against AD and other neurodegenerative diseases. During neural development and regeneration in response to these kind of compounds, the process of neurite outgrowth from the cell body is of particular importance for regeneration of the nervous system (Sarina *et al.*).

PC12 cells act as an excellent experimental *in vitro* model for investigating neuroscience, *e.g.* neuronal differentiation and the underlying molecular mechanisms (Sarina et al.; Das et al. 2004; Cui et al. 2012). In response to NGF, PC12 cells are differentiated into neuronal phenotype similar to those found in sympathetic neurons (Greene and Tischler 1976), characterized by condensed cell body and extended neurite outgrowth. These physiological changes involve various signaling transduction pathways. NGF induces a rapid increase in TrkA phosphorylation and subsequent stimulation of MEK/ERK pathway (Vaudry et al. 2002). In addition, an

intracellular elevated level of cyclic AMP (cAMP) usually employs cAMP-PKA-CREB pathway to induce differentiation in PC12 cells (Maruoka et al. 2010). Recent findings have demonstrated that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR), α 7-nAChR in particular, play a pivotal role in synaptic transmission and differentiation (Nery et al. 2010). Concordantly, with the activation of α 7-nAChR, PC12 cells display condensed cell bodies and extended outgrowth of neurites (Utsugisawa et al. 2002), while depletion of α 7-nAChR destroys hippocampal dendritic neurons maturation (Maggini et al. 2006; Campbell et al. 2010), indicative of the involvement of α 7-nAChR for neuronal differentiation.

1.2 Other neurodegenerative disorders

Neurodegenerative disorders are caused by complicated and yet unknown reasons, however, their common typical histological feature is the neuronal loss in specific regions, such as the loss of cholinergic neurons in hippocampus and cortex in AD, the loss of dopaminergic (DA) neurons in the substantia nigra in Parkinson's disease (PD) and the loss of medium spiny neurons in the striatum in Huntington's disease (HD) (Srivastava et al. 2008). All of these neurodegenerative diseases, though with different clinical symptoms, share some common pathological processes. PD and HD are selected for brief introduction.

1.2.1 Parkinson's disease

PD, also known as idiopathic parkinsonism or paralysis agitans, is characterized

by rigidity, shaking, slowness of movement and difficulty with walking and gait. Cognitive and behavioral problems are also observed in the advanced stages of PD. Lewy body, an inclusion body found in the cytoplasm of neurons (Taylor et al. 2002), is the primary pathological hallmark of PD. Though the exact cause remains still unclear, it is generally accepted that PD is caused by the loss and degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra of the midbrain and other monoaminergic neurons in the brain stem (Tatton et al. 2003; Witt and Flower 2006). A growing body of evidence indicates the involvement of glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in the pathology of PD (Armentero et al. 2006; Johnson et al. 2009; Meredith et al. 2009). In addition, a sharp decline in neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation in SGZ and SVZ, as well as a reduced number of new neurons in the olfactory bulb have been observed in the early stage of PD (Simuni and Sethi 2008), suggesting that compounds with neuroprotection and neuronal differentiation-promoting activities may have therapeutic significance against PD. Recent findings have indicated the involvement of genetic factors in the etiology of PD. Two mutations (A53T and A30P) of the α -synuclein gene cause autosomal dominante PD via a gain-of-function mechanism (Shimura et al. 2001; Outeiro et al. 2007). Recessive early-onset PD can be caused by mutations in the genes encoding parkin, DJ-1 or PINK1, presumably via a loss-of-function mechanism (Taylor et al. 2002).

1.2.2 Huntington's disease

Huntington's disease, clinically characterized by a distinctive phenotype, such as dystonia, cognitive dysfunction and behavioral problems, represents an inherited neurodegenerative disease. The characteristic symptoms result from the selective loss or degeneration of medium spiny GABAergic neurons in the striatum, the subcortical brain structure that controls body movements (Hickey and Chesselet 2003; Almeida et al. 2008). The gene responsible for the occurrence of HD is hungtinton, which contains a polymorphic stretch of repeated CAG trinucleotides that encodes a polyglutamine tract within hungtinton. There is evidence for the disturbance of NMDA receptor transmission in the early pathogenesis of HD (Milnerwood et al. 2012). Recent studies have demonstrated that the reduced ability of neural stem cells to differentiate into neurons is also observed in HD brains, indicating the tight link between neuronal differentiation and HD (Nakaguchi et al. 2011).

Though diverse neurodegenerative diseases display distinct phenotypes, they may share some common pathways, such as glutamate-induced excitotoxicity, leading to their pathology. Impairment of neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation are also associated with these devastating disorders. Compounds with anti-apoptotic property or neuronal differentiation-promoting activities may have therapeutic significance against these neurodegenerative diseases.

1.3 Bis(propyl)-cognitin--novel dimer derived from tacrine

Bis(propyl)-cognitin (1, 7-N-propylene-bis-9, 9'-amino-1, 2, 3, 4-tetrahydroacridine) (Fig. 1.4), also known as B3C, together with other bis(n)-cognitins which are derived from tacrine linked with different lengths of methylene (-CH₂-) groups in our lab (Carlier et al. 1999), is designed and synthesized as a novel dimeric AChE inhibitor with dual binding sites of AChE. It is a yellowish-white powder which is slightly soluble in water and dissolves easily in organic solvent. B3C exhibits comparable potency (254 nM *versus* 223 nM) and selectivity (0.6 *versus* 0.4) for AChE in comparison to its monomer tacrine (Carlier et al. 1999), however, it possesses plenty of advantages distinctive from tacrine and other existing AChE inhibitors approved by FDA.



tacrine

bis(propyl)-cognitin

Fig.1.4 Structures of tacrine and bis(propyl)-cognitin (Hu et al. 2013).



Fig.1.5 Tether length differential potency of bis(n)-cognitins (Luo et al. 2010).

1.3.1 B3C acts as an Uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist with Fact Off-rate (UFO)

It is well characterized by us that B3C moderately, voltage-dependently and selectively inhibited NMDA-activated currents in hippocampus using patch clamp (Fig. 1.5) (Luo et al. 2010). The inhibitory effects of B3C increased with the increase in the concentrations of glutamate. With the use of kinetics analysis, the B3C's inhibition is of fast onset and offset with an off-rate time constant of 1.9 s. Studies from molecular docking have further indicated B3C moderately blocks NMDA receptor at the MK-801 binding site. B3C has been further found to compete with [³H]MK801 with a K_i value of 0.27 μ M.

1.3.2 B3C provides neuroprotections in scopolamine and middle cerebral artery occlusion-induced brain damage

As assayed by Morris water maze test and novel object recognition tasks, treatment with B3C (1.5-2.5 μ mol/kg) in mice dose-dependently mitigated the neurological deficits and memory impairments induced by scopolamine, with a potency that was 5 to 20 folds over that of tacrine (Han et al. 2012). In addition, B3C (0.65 μ mol/kg) shows more pronounced improvement in neurological scores and reduction in infarct volume in rats subjected to MCAO than memantine does (Luo et al. 2010). These taken together suggest that B3C has high the blood-brain barrier penetrate when administrated.

1.4 The aim of the study

Neurodegenerative diseases are caused by, at least, inappropriate apoptosis induced by glutamate or other neurotoxic stimuli as well as impairments in neurogenesis and neuronal differentiation. Compounds with anti-property and neuronal differentiation-promoting activities could have therapeutic significance against these devastating diseases. B3C has been demonstrated as a promising agent against neurodegeneration on the basis of AChE inhibition, NMDA receptor antagonism and some neuroprotections in animal studies. However, more studies need to be carried out to confirm the therapeutic advantages, as well as to explore the mechanisms that underlie the potential therapeutics of B3C. In my research, we would like to achieve the following aims:

1> To investigate the molecular mechanisms of neuroprotection by which B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity.

2> To elucidate the molecular mechanisms of neuroprotection by which B3C protects against K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis

3> To explore the molecular mechanisms by which B3C promotes neuronal differentiation in PC12 cells and primary cortical neurons.

Chapter 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals and reagents

B3C was designed as previously described (Carlier et al. 1999). Unless otherwise mentioned, all culture media and supplements used for cell cultures were purchased from Gibco (Carlsbad, CA, USA). LY294002, PD98059, U0126, SB415286, LiCl, SB203580, SP600125 and N^G-monomethyl-L-arginine (L-NMMA) were obtained from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA, USA). PTK787/ZK222584 (PTK/ZK) was from LC laboratories (Woburn, MA, USA). Glutamate, fluorescein diacetate (FDA), propidium iodide (PI). Hoechst 33342. 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT), 4-amino-5-methylamino-2',7'-difluorescein diacetate (DAF-FM), tacrine, donepezil, memantine, atropine, dibutyryl cAMP (dbcAMP), mecamylamine, MLA, K252a and tubocurarine were obtained from Sigma Chemicals (St Louis, MO, USA). 4-amino-5-methylamino-2', 7'-difluorescein diacetate (DAF-FM diacetate) were purchased from Invitrogen (Eugene, OR, USA). NGF was from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA).

2.2 Primary culture of cerebellar granule neurons (CGNs)

Rat CGNs were prepared from 8-day-old Sprague-Dawley rat pups (15 to 19 g) as described previously (Hu et al. 2013). Briefly, fresh cerebella were removed and rinsed into ice-cold Kreb's buffer, then finely chopped in hood and digested with 0.25% trypsin at 37 °C for 15 min. Trypsin inhibitor and DNase A solution were added to terminate trypsin activity. After centrifugation, a single cell suspension was

obtained through resuspending the sedimented tissue. Following cell count using trypan blue exclusion test, neurons at a density of 2.0×10^6 cells / ml were seeded in basal modified Eagle's medium (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS), 25 mM KCl, 2 mM glutamine and 100 units/ml penicillin/streptomycin. All Petri dishes and plates were coated with poly-D-lysine prior to seeding to enhance adhesion. Cytosine arabinonucleoside (10 µM) was added into the culture media 24 h after seeding to inhibit the growth of non-neuronal cells. With the use of this protocol, the CGN cultures consisted of > 95 % neurons (stained with anti-GAP-43 antibody), < 1 % astrocytes (stained with anti-GFAP antibody). All the experiments were carried out after 8 days in culture.

2.3 Primary culture of cortical neurons

Primary cortical neurons were obtained from 18-day-old Sprague-Dawley rat embryos as previously described by us with modification (Fu et al. 2006). Briefly, the cortex was mechanically fragmented, transferred to 0.25 % trypsin, and incubated in a water bath for 15 min at 37 °C. Following trypsinization, cells were washed twice with neurobasal medium and re-suspended in neurobasal medium containing 10 % fetal bovine serum, 0.5 mM glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 U/ml streptomycin. The cells were then plated onto 35-mm cell culture dishes (150 cells/mm²) pre-coated with poly-L-lysine and kept at 37 °C under an atmosphere of 95 % air and 5 % CO₂. 24 h after plating, half-medium was removed and replaced with neurobasal medium containing 1 % B-27, 0.5 mM glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 U/ml streptomycin and 1 μ M cytosine arabinonucleoside. After 2 days in culture, cortical neurons were incubated with increasing concentrations of B3C for 2 days.

2.4 Drug treatment of CGNs

For the study of neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity by B3C:

After 8 days *in vitro* (DIV), CGNs were pre-treated with B3C, tacrine, donepezil, memantine and L-NMMA at the desired concentrations for 2 h, and then incubated with glutamate for different lengths of time. When pharmacological inhibitors were used for signaling assays, CGNs were also pre-treated with these inhibitors 2 h before the addition of the tested compounds and/or the stimuli. Cells that did not receive drugs received a control vehicle (dimethyl sulfoxide for SB415286, U0126 and LY294002, and distilled water for other inhibitors), and the final concentration of DMSO was no more than 0.1 % .

For the study of neuroprotection against K^+ deprivation-induced excitotoxicity by B3C:

At 8 DIV, CGNs were switched from the culture medium (10 % FBS and 25 mM KCl) to a fresh serum-free medium containing 25 mM KCl (25K, control group), or 5 mM KCl (5K, K⁺ deprivation), or 5 mM KCl and the tested compounds (5K + tested compounds),. When pharmacological inhibitors were used, CGNs were pre-treated with the selected inhibitors in the serum-free medium containing 25 mM KCl 0.5 h before the switch of CGNs to K⁺ deprived medium with or without the tested

36

compounds. B3C, tacrine, donepezil, memantine and MK801 were dissolved in distilled water.

2.5 PC12 Cell Culture

PC12 cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA) and maintained in high glucose DMEM medium supplemented with 6 % FBS, 6 % horse serum, 2 mM glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 U/ml streptomycin at 37 $^{\circ}$ C under an atmosphere of 95 % air and 5 % CO₂.

2.6 a7-nAChR gene knockdown

A pGPU6-GFP-neo shRNA expression vector containing DNA oligonucleotides (21 bp) specially targeting sequences (5'-GCAGTGCAAACTGAAGTTTGG-3') of α 7-nAChR or the vector with non-sense olighnucleotides as a negative control (GenePharma, Shanghai, China) was transfected into PC12 cells. Briefly, 24 h after seeding, PC12 cells were rinsed with PBS and transfected with indicated plasmids in serum-free DMEM for 6 h by using Lipofectamine 2000 at the ratio of 1:2.5 (plasmids/liposome). The culture media were subsequently substituted by DMEM containing 10 % FBS for an additional 48 h culture. GFP expression was monitored to evaluate transfection efficiency.

2.7 Quantitative Assessment of Neurite Outgrowth in PC12 cells

Morphological analysis and quantification of cells with neurites were performed

as previously described (Shi et al. 2006). Briefly, PC12 cells were seeded in growth medium at 1×10^4 cells/well in poly-L-lysine–coated 6-well plates and incubated overnight. The next day, cells were treated with various concentrations of chemicals, with fresh low serum medium (0.5 % FBS and 0.5 % horse serum) and chemicals renewed every other day. A light microscope equipped with a phase-contrast condenser, $10 \times$ objective lens and a digital camera (Diagnostic Instruments) was used to capture images with the manual setting. For analyzing the number of neurite bearing cells, approximately 300 cells were counted from at least 5 randomly chosen visual fields for each culture. With the use of Image J 1.42 software, the cells were identified as differentiated if one or more neurites were longer than the diameter of cell body.

2.8 Determination of Cell Viability

Cell viability was measured using the classical MTT assay as described previously (Hu et al. 2011; Hu et al. 2013). Briefly, neurons were seeded and cultured in 96-well plates. After drug treatment, 10 μ L of 5mg/mL MTT solution (dissolved in PBS) was added to each well, and the plates were then incubated at 37 °C for 4 h. The purple MTT formazan crystals were dissolved in 150 μ L DMSO. Cell viability was measured using a BIO-RAD Microplate Reader (Model 680, BIO-RAD Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) with 570 nm as a test wavelength and 655 nm as a reference wavelength.

2.9 Assay of Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) release

Cytotoxicity in different drug treatment groups was quantified by observing the extracellular LDH in the culture media. Prior to assay, CGNs were incubated with 1 % (V/V) Triton X-100 in culture medium for 1 h at 37 °C to obtain a representative maximal LDH release, which serves as the positive control with 100 % toxicity. The released LDH was examined with the commercial kit (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN). Briefly, after gentle centrifugation, culture media in 96-well plates were transferred to another new plates, and then the same volume of mixed reaction buffer supplied in the kit were added into these plates. 30 min after mixing at room temperature, the released LDH was determined using a BIO-RAD Microplate Reader (Model 680, BIO-RAD Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) with 490 nm as a wavelength of.

2.10 Image Analysis of FDA/PI staining

To acquire further information whether the treated cells are viable, a double staining procedure with FDA and PI, two specific fluorophores, was employed. FDA can easily penetrate through the membranes of living cells, and be hydrolyzed by intracellular esterase to generate fluorescein. The resulted fluorescein remains within the cells and emits green color. On the contrary, PI easily passes through the membranes of dead cells and then intercalates with DNA to form a bright red fluorescent complex. Briefly, CGNs were incubated with 10 μ g/ml FDA and 5 μ g/ml PI (diluted in PBS containing 5% glucose) for 15 min, then washed twice and

photographed using a fluorescence microscope. The captured pictures were then compared with pictures taken under phase contrast microscopy.

2.11 Morphological Observation of Nuclear Change by Hoechst 33342 staining

Chromatin condensation stained by Hoechst 33342 was analyzed as described previously (Hu et al. 2013). After drug treatment, CGNs (4×10^6 cells) grown in a 6-well plate were washed with ice-cold PBS containing 5 % glucose, and then stained with Hoechst 33342 (5 µg/ml) for 5 min at 4 °C. After the two washes with PBS, the stained nucleus were immediately photographed using a fluorescence microscope. Cells with bright blue condensed and fragmented nucleus (chromatin condensation and fragment) were taken as apoptotic cells. Condensed nucleus were scored by calculating more than 500 cells of four randomly chosen microscopic fields for each sample.

2.12 Analysis of DNA Fragmentation

Apoptotic nucleosomal DNA ladder was detected by agarose gel electrophoresis as previously described (Hu et al. 2011). After drug treatment, CGNs were collected and lysed in lysis buffer [10 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.6), 0.5 % v/v Triton X-100, 20 mM EDTA, 0.5 mg/ml proteinase K]. Following the centrifugation at 12, 000 rpm for 10 min, the supernatant of lysate was extracted once with equal volume of phenol, and once with phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (v/v/v 25: 24: 1). With the incubation of 0.1 volume of 3 M sodium acetate and 2.5 volumes of ethanol at -20 °C overnight, DNA was precipitated. The precipitate was then rinsed with 70 % ice-cold ethanol, re-suspend in Tris borate-EDTA buffer, and then incubated with RNase A (0.1 mg/ml) at 37 °C for 1 h. 8 μ g DNA was loaded and electrophoresed in 1.2 % agarose gels for 1 h at 70 V and visualized with ethidium bromide staining.

2.13 Measurement of Intracellular NO

Intracellular NO was detected with DAF-FM, a fluorescent probe which emits increased fluorescence through the reaction with an active intermediate of NO formed during the spontaneous oxidation of NO to NO₂ (Sheng and Kim 2002). Briefly, after treatment, CGNs were incubated with 5 μ M DAF-FM at 37 °C for 30 min, then washed twice with PBS, and finally the DAF-FM fluorescence in CGNs was captured using a Galaxy Microplate Reader (POLARstar Galaxy, BMG Labtech GmbH, Offenburg, Germany) with excitation and emission wavelengths of 495 nm and 515 nm, respectively.

2.14 Immunocytochemical staining

After removing the culture medium, primary cortical neurons were incubated with fixing buffer (10 % sucrose, 4 % paraformaldehyde and 15 μ g/ml Hoechst-33342 in PBS) for 20 min. Thereafter, cells were blocked for 1 h in 5 % goat serum, 0.5 % BSA and 0.1 % Triton X-100 in PBS, and then incubated with mouse anti- β III tubulin antibody (Cell Signaling Technology Inc, MA, USA) at 4 °C overnight. After two washes with PBS, Alexafluor-488 anti-mouse secondary antibody were added for 1

hour at room temperature.

2.15 Image acquisition and analysis

The pictures were acquired by the Nikon ECLIPSE Ti-U microscope (Nikon Instruments Inc). Image analysis was conducted with ImageJ Software according to the previous publications with slight modifications (Hirata et al. 2005; Evans et al. 2008). Briefly, images of nuclei stained with Hoechst-33342, which allowed identification of the correct focal plane for further image acquisition, were identified by ultraviolet excitation and emission wavelengths. Second excitation wavelengths were used to illuminate neurites with Alexa-488 secondary antibody. Neuronal cell bodies were labeled as Hoechst-33342-positive objects. Neurites were labeled as β III tubulin-positive structures, analyzed by a NeuriteTracer program (Pool et al. 2008).

2.16 Western Blot

Western blot analysis was conducted as previously described (Hu et al. 2013). CGNs were lysed in $1 \times$ cell lysis buffer (Cell Signaling Technology Inc, MA, USA). Following the homogenization and centrifugation, the supernatant was collected, and the total protein content was determined using a Bradford assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

Protein samples were mixed with sample loading buffer at the ratio of 1:4 (Cell Signaling Technology Inc, MA, USA) and boiled for 10 min. 25-50 g of total proteins were loaded on 12 % SDS-PAGE, electrophoresed and subsequently transferred to

polyvinylidene fluoride membranes (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Thereafter, the membranes were blocked in 5 % nonfat milk solution, incubated with 1:1 000 diluted anti-MEK, anti-p-ERK, anti-ERK, anti-p-Ser-473Akt, anti-Akt, anti-p-Ser9-GSK3β, anti-GSK3β (rabbit monoclonal, Cell Signaling Technology Inc, MA, USA), 1:500 diluted anti-p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 (rabbit polyclonal, Abcam Inc., MA, USA), 1:1000 diluted anti-GAP43, anti-β-actin (goat monoclonal, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, USA), respectively. Following three washes with TBST solution (20 mM Tris, pH 7.6, 0.1 % Tween 20), the membranes were immersed in corresponding secondary antibodies conjugated to peroxidase (1:2000) for 45 min, and blots on the membranes were developed by using an Enhanced Chemiluminescence Detection kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). The relative levels of each protein to house-keeping protein were determined by densitometry analysis using Gel-Pro analyzer 4.0 software (Gel media system, China).

2.17 Data Analysis and Statistics

Data, presented as means \pm S.E.M, are representative of three independent experiments. Statistical comparisons were performed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni's post-test, and *p*<0.05 or less was taken as statistically significant.

Chapter 3

Results

3.1

B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs via concurrent regulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathways, downstream of NMDA receptors

3.1.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity more potently than memantine

Prior to the examination of neuroprotection of tested compounds, we established a cell model in which excitotoxicity was induced by glutamate in CGNs. At DIV 8, CGNs were incubated with various concentrations of glutamate for 24 h, followed by MTT assay (for measurement of cell viability) and LDH assay (for evaluation of cell membrane damage), respectively. As demonstrated in Fig. 3.1.1A, glutamate (25 μ M to 500 μ M) induced a significant neuronal death in CGNs in a dose-dependent manner. Since glutamate, at low concentrations, induces typical apoptosis rather than necrosis in primary CGNs (Du et al., 1997), 100 μ M glutamate with approximately 50 % cell death was used for all the subsequent experiments.

Further, to compare the neuroprotective effects of B3C and memantine, two uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists, CGNs were pre-treated with B3C $(0.01-20 \ \mu\text{M})$ or memantine $(0.01-100 \ \mu\text{M})$ for 2 h, and then subjected to 100 μM glutamate in the presence of tested compounds for 24 h. As shown in Figs.3.1.1B and 3.1.1C, B3C prevents glutamate-induced excitotoxicity 10 times more potently than memantine, with the IC₅₀ values of 0.45 μ M, 4.58 μ M for increasing cell survival and 0.46 μ M, 4.63 μ M for maintaining membrane integrity, respectively. Meanwhile, even when the concentrations was up to 100 μ M, tacrine and donepezil (two commonly used AChE inhibitors) were unable to attenuate cell death induced by glutamate, indicating that the neuroprotective effects of B3C are independently associated with its AChE inhibition capacity.



Fig.3.1.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity 10 times more potently than memantine.

(A) Correlation between neuronal death and membrane damage induced by glutamate. At 8 DIV, primary CGNs were incubated with glutamate ranging from 25 μ M to 500 μ M for 24 h. MTT reduction assay and LDH release assay were then performed. **, *p*<0.01, compared to control group. (B, C) B3C protects against neuronal death induced by glutamate 10 times more potently than memantine (MEM). At 8 DIV, CGNs were pre-treated with B3C (0.01 μ M to 20 μ M), MEM (0.01 μ M to 100 μ M), tacrine (0.1 μ M to 100 μ M) or donepezil (0.1 μ M to 100 μ M) for 2 h, and then subjected to glutamate at 100 μ M for 24 h in the presence of tested compounds. MTT reduction assay and LDH release assay were employed to measure the cell viability (B) and membrane integrity (C), respectively. IC₅₀ values were calculated using Origin Pro 8 statistical software from the sigmoidal inhibition curve. N/C, not calculable.

3.1.2 B3C attenuates the typical apoptosis induced by glutamate more substantially than memantine

To further confirm the neuroprotective effects of B3C and memantine, FDA/PI double staining, Hoechst staining and DNA fragmentation assays were conducted in primary CGNs in succession. As can be seen from the phase contrast microscopy and FDA/PI double staining (Fig. 3.1.2A), cells displayed unhealthy bodies and broken extensive neuritic network in response to 24 h of glutamate challenge. However, B3C and memantine effectively inhibited the neuronal death and the morphological changes induced by glutamate. In addition, B3C and memantine remarkably blocked glutamate-induced nuclear condensation, as evidenced by the decrease in apoptotic bodies stained by Hoechst 33342 (Fig. 3.1.2B). In parallel, B3C and memantine effectively suppressed DNA fragmentation (DNA "ladder"), the hall marker of apoptosis (Fig. 3.1.2C), as assayed by DNA fragmentation gel assays. In all these cases, the neuroprotective effects offered by B3C at 3 μ M was equivalent to that

offered by memantine at 30 μ M.



Fig.3.1.2 B3C attenuates glutamate-induced apoptosis more substantially than memantine in CGNs.

(A) At 8 DIV, CGNs were pre-treated with 3 μ M B3C or 30 μ M MEM for 2 h, and then incubated with 100 μ M glutamate (Glu) in the presence of the tested compounds for 24 h, and finally assayed with a phase contrast microscope, FDA/PI staining and Hoechst 33342 staining. Scale bar = 100 μ m. (B) The counts of apoptotic bodies from Hoechst staining as observed in (A). **, *p*<0.01, compared to control group; ##,

p<0.01, compared to glutamate group. (C) The fragmented DNA in CGNs was extracted, and then agarose gel electrophoresis was used for visualization of DNA bands.

3.1.3 B3C potently suppresses the increased intracellular NO induced by glutamate

To analyze the inhibitory effects of B3C and memantine on glutamate-induced over-production of intracellular NO in our cell models, L-NMMA (a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, 1-1000 μ M), B3C (0.01-20 μ M) or memantine (0.01-100 μ M) were selected to pre-treat CGNs for 2 h before glutamate insult. As shown in Fig. 3.1.3, B3C (IC₅₀, 0.61 μ M) was more potent in inhibiting the abnormal generation of NO caused by glutamate, as compared to L-NMMA (IC₅₀, 44.7 μ M) and memantine (IC₅₀, 6.44 μ M).



Fig.3.1.3 B3C potently suppresses the increase in the level of intracellular NO caused by glutamate.

At 8 DIV, CGNs were pre-treated with L-NMMA (1-1000 μ M), B3C (0.01-20 μ M) or memantine (0.01-100 μ M) 2 h prior to 100 μ M glutamate insult. Intracellular NO level was examined using DAF-FM diacetate (a fluorescence probe) 0.5 h after glutamate challenge. IC₅₀ values were calculated from fits of the data by Origin Pro 8 software.

3.1.4 B3C potently inhibits the activation of ERK pathway caused by glutamate

To prove whether ERK pathway was involved in our cell models and to examine the inhibitory effects of B3C and memantine on the ERK pathway, the protein expression of p-MEK1/2 and p-ERK1/2 were analyzed in succession by western blot. As demonstrated in Fig. 3.1.4, as a response to 100 μ M glutamate, the levels of both phosphorylation of kinases gradually increased, with a peak at 2 h. B3C at 3 μ M, equivalent to memantine at 30 μ M, substantially reversed the increased p-MEK1/2 and p-ERK1/2 caused by glutamate, whereas U0126 (MEK inhibitor) only inhibited the rise in p-ERK1/2 without affecting p-MEK1/2.



Fig.3.1.4 B3C potently inhibits the activation of ERK pathway caused by glutamate.

(A) CGNs were incubated with 100 μ M glutamate (Glu) for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 6 h, respectively. The protein expression of p-MEK, p-ERK, total ERK and β -actin were examined using Western blot. **, *p*<0.01, compared to control group; ^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to glutamate group. (B) CGNs were pre-treated with 3 μ M B3C or 30 μ M memantine (MEM) for 2 h, and then incubated with 100 μ M glutamate in the presence of the tested compounds for 2 h. The protein expression of p-MEK, p-ERK, total ERK and β -actin were examined using Western blot. **, *p*<0.01, compared to control group; ^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to glutamate group.
3.1.5 B3C potently reverses the inhibition of PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathway caused by glutamate

To prove whether GSK3ß pathway was involved in our cell models, LiCl, a GSK3^β inhibitor was used to pre-treated CGNs prior to the glutamate insult. It was found that LiCl well protected neurons against glutamate-induced neuronal death, indicative of the involvement of GSK3 β pathway. Next, to evaluate the effects of B3C and memantine on the PI3-K/Akt/GSK3ß pathway, the protein expression of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3β were also analyzed by Western blot. As observed in Figs. 3.1.5A and 3.1.5B, 100 µM glutamate time-dependently decreased the levels of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3^β. As a response to 6 h of glutamate challenge, the level of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3 β reached 60 ± 8 % and 21 ± 13 % of that of control group respectively, while pre-treatment with B3C dose-dependently reversed both suppressed kinases (Fig.3.1.5C). To further investigate whether the PI3-K/Akt/GSK3ß pathway was associated with the neuroprotective effects of B3C, LY294002, a specific PI3-K inhibitor was used. It was shown that 50 µM LY294002 significantly abolished the neuroprotective effects of B3C (Fig.3.1.5D). In addition, LY294002 reversed the suppression of down-regulation of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3ß levels caused by glutamate, as assayed by Western blot (Fig.3.1.5E). Similarly, B3C was 10 times more potent than memantine to reverse the suppression of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3ß expression caused by glutamate in primary rat CGNs (Fig.3.1.5F).



Fig.3.1.5 B3C potently reverses the attenuation of PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathway caused by glutamate.

(A) 100 μ M glutamate significantly down-regulated the protein expression of p-Ser473-Akt in CGNs. **, p<0.01, compared to control group. (B) 100 μ M glutamate time dependently suppressed the protein expression p-Ser9-GSK3 β in CGNs **, p<0.01, compared to control group. (C) B3C dose-dependently reversed the inhibition of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3 β caused by glutamate. **, p<0.01, compared to control group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group. (D) PI3-K specific inhibitors partially abolished the neuroprotections of B3C and memantine against glutamate excitotoxicity. **, p<0.01, compared to glutamate plus B3C group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{AA}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate plus B3C group. (E) PI3-K specific inhibitors abolished the neuroprotection of B3C via PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathway. **, p<0.01, compared to glutamate plus B3C group. (F) B3C at 3 μ M, equal to memantine at 30 μ M, almost completely reversed the inhibition of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3 β caused by glutamate. **, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate. **, p<0.01, compared to control group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate. **, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate. **, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group.

3.1.6 Pharmacological inhibition of NOS, ERK and GSK 3 β provides a synergistic neuroprotective effect against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity

To investigate the relationship among NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathways which are involved in glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs, the specific inhibitor of NOS (L-NMMA), that of MEK1/2 (U0126), and that of GSK 3 β (SB415286) were selected, alone or in combination, to treat CGNs for 2 h before the glutamate insult. It was found that both single inhibitor and combinations of any two inhibitors partially blocked glutamate-induced apoptosis (Fig. 3.1.6A). However, the co-administration of these three inhibitors produced a synergistic and almost 100 % neuroprotection against glutamate insult. The full neuroprotective effect of these inhibitors is equivalent to that offered by B3C at 3 μ M or memantine at 30 μ M (Fig. 3.1.6B).



Fig.3.1.6 Pharmacological inhibition of NOS, ERK pathways and GSK3β produces a synergistic neuroprotective effect against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs.

At 8 DIV, CGNs were pre-treated with various concentrations of L-NMMA (NOS inhibitor, μ M), U0126 (MEK inhibitor, μ M) or SB415286 (GSK3 β inhibitor, μ M),

alone (A) or in combination (B) for 2 h prior to 24 h of glutamate insult. MTT reduction assay was performed to measure the cell viability **, p<0.01, compared to control group; ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to glutamate group.

(Hu S, et al. 2013, Neurochem Int 62, 468-477)

3.2

B3C protects against K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs via the activation of VEGFR-2 signaling pathways

3.2.1 B3C blocks neuronal death in CGNs induced by K⁺ deprivation

As reported previously (Subramaniam et al. 2003), when switched from a serum-free medium containing a high depolarizing K^+ concentration (25K) to a serum-free medium containing a low K^+ concentration (5K), CGNs underwent apoptosis. As shown in Fig.3.2.1A, 24 h of K^+ deprivation killed 50 % cell death in CGNs, while B3C (IC₅₀, 0.37 μ M) effectively blocked the cell death induced by K^+ deprivation (Fig.3.2.1A). In addition, with the increase of time exposure, the neuroprotective effect of B3C gradually declined and completely disappeared 60 h after K^+ deprivation insult (Fig.3.2.1B). More importantly, B3C offered diminishing, but significant neuroprotective effect when added 10 h after switching CGNs to K^+ deprived medium (Fig.3.2.1C).



Fig. 3.2.1 B3C effectively blocks neuronal death in CGNs induced by K^+ deprivation.

(A) At 8 DIV, CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium with or without B3C (0.03-10 μ M). Cell viability was measured by MTT reduction assay 24 h after K⁺ deprivation in primary CGNs. IC₅₀ value was calculated using Origin Pro 8 statistical software. ^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to 5K group. (B) CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium with or without 3 μ M B3C for different lengths of time, and then subjected to MTT reduction assay. ^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to 5K group. (C) B3C was added at different times after the switch of CGNs to K⁺ deprived medium. MTT reduction assay was performed to measure the cell viability^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to 5K group.

3.2.2 B3C blocks the hallmark of apoptosis in CGNs induced by K⁺ deprivation

Further, FDA/PI double staining, Hoechst staining and DNA fragmentation assays were conducted in succession to assess the neuroprotective effects of B3C. As shown by phase contrast microscopy (Fig. 3.2.2A), CGNs displayed a unhealthy bodies and broken neuritic network after 24 h of K⁺ deprivation, while B3C significantly blocked the loss of neurons and reversed the morphological changes caused by K⁺ deprivation insult. In addition, B3C prevented existing neurons from dying, as evidenced by the increase in the number of FDA-labeled neurons and the decrease in the number of PI-labeled neurons in FDA/PI double staining assays. Next, Hoechst staining and DNA fragmentation assay, two typical methods for detecting apoptosis, were applied to differentiate the apoptotic neurons from the necrotic ones. Results from Hoechst 33342 staining indicated that B3C substantially reversed K⁺ deprivation-induced nuclear condensation, as evidenced by the decrease in the apoptotic bodies stained by Hoechst (Fig.3.2.2B). In parallel, results from DNA fragmentation gel assays suggested that B3C remarkably blocked DNA fragmentation (DNA "ladder"), another hallmark of apoptosis (Fig. 3.2.2C).



Fig. 3.2.2 B3C substantially attenuates the hallmark of apoptosis in CGNs induced by K^+ deprivation.

(A) At 8 DIV, CGNs were switched to K^+ deprived medium with or without 3 μ M B3C. CGNs were assayed with a phase contrast microscope, FDA/PI double staining and Hoechst 33342 staining 24 h after K^+ deprivation,. Scale bar = 100 μ m. (B) The number of apoptotic nuclei stained by Hoechst was randomly and double-blindly

calculated from (A). **, p < 0.01, compared to control (25K group), ^{# #}, p < 0.01, compared to 5K group. (C) The fragmented DNA in CGNs was extracted, and then agarose gel electrophoresis was used for visualization of DNA bands.

3.2.3 The neuroprotection of B3C against K⁺ deprivation is independent of AChE

inhibition and NMDA receptor antagonism

Since B3C is derived from tacrine and has comparable AChE inhibition to tacrine (Carlier et al. 1999), it is reasonably asked whether the neuroprotective effect of B3C was associated with its inhibition on AChE. In this study, B3C, together with tacrine (the monomer of B3C) and donepezil (the commonly used AChE inhibitor), were selected to test their effects against K^+ deprivation-induced neuronal death in CGNs. By using MTT assay, it was found that both tacrine and E2020, even when their concentrations exceeded 50 µM, failed to block neuronal death in CGNs induced by K^+ deprivation (Fig.3.2.3A).

It has been reported that activation of cholinergic receptors could block neuronal death (Meyer et al. 2002). B3C inhibits the activity of AChE and indirectly improves the concentration of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine in the synaptic cleft, the latter of which may contribute to the therapeutic effects against neurodegenerative diseases in which cholinergic dysfunction is involved. As such, to test whether the neuroprotective effect of B3C was associated with its activation of cholinergic receptors, both atropine (a muscarinic cholinergic receptor antagonist) and dihydro- β -erythroidine (a nicotinic cholinergic receptor antagonist, DHE) were applied. With MTT assay, it was shown that 10 μ M atropine, 50 μ M DHE, or their combination, were unable to prevent K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs

(Fig.3.2.3B).

Further, since B3C has been proven to be an NMDA receptor antagonist (Luo et al. 2010), it is reasonably asked whether the neuroprotective effect of B3C against K⁺ deprivation was associated with its blockage of NMDA receptor. Therefore, MK801 and memantine, two widely used NMDA receptor antagonists, were used in our model. With MTT assay, it was found that neither MK801 at 5 μ M nor memantine at 30 μ M could attenuate neuronal death induced by K⁺ deprivation (Fig.3.2.3C).



Fig.3.2.3 The neuroprotection of B3C is independently associated with its AChE inhibition and NMDA receptor antagonism.

(A) At 8 DIV, CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing tacrine or E2020 (1, 10 or 50 μ M). At 24 h after K⁺ deprivation, MTT reduction assay was performed to measure cell viability. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to 25K group. (B) At 8 DIV, CGNs were pre-treated with 10 μ M atropine (Atr) or/and 50 μ M dihydro- β -erythroidine (DHE) for 0.5 h in a serum-free medium containing 25 mM KCl, then switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing 3 μ M B3C, and finally subjected to MTT reduction assay 24 h after treatment. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to 25K group, ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group. (C) At 8 DIV, CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing memantine (MEM, 1, 10 or 50 μ M) or MK801 (0.1, 1, 10 μ M). and then subjected to MTT reduction assay at 24 h after K⁺ deprivation. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to 25K group.

3.2.4 B3C reverses the inhibition of VEGFR-2 caused by K⁺ deprivation

Recent studies have indicated that neurotrophic factors such as VEGF could protect against K⁺ deprivation through the activation of receptor tyrosine kinases (Yu and Chuang 1997; Wick et al. 2002). To investigate whether the neuroprotective effect of B3C against K⁺ deprivation was associated with VEGF/VEGFR-2 system, PTK/ZK, a specific VEGFR-2 tyrosine kinases inhibitor, was first used in our cell model. It was found that PTK/ZK at 10 μ M for 0.5 h abolished the neuroprotective effects of B3C against K⁺ deprivation-induced neuronal death in CGNs (Fig.3.2.4A). Moreover, the activation of VEGFR-2 produced by B3C was examined in our system by determining the protein expression of p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2. Results from Western blot showed that K⁺ deprivation caused a rapid decrease in p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2, which reached a peak at 1 h (Fig. 3.2.4B), while treatment with 3 μ M B3C reversed the decrease of p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 induced by K⁺ deprivation (Fig. 3.2.4C).



Fig.3.2.4 B3C reverses the inhibition of VEGFR-2 caused by K⁺ deprivation.

(A) VEGFR inhibitor (PTK/ZK), partially abolished the neuroprotective effects of B3C against K⁺ deprivation. CGNs were pre-treated with PTK/ZK (3 or 10 μ M) for 0.5 h in serum-free medium containing 25 mM K⁺, then switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing 3 μ M B3C, and finally subjected to MTT reduction assay 24 h after K⁺ deprivation. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group), ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ^{ΔΔ}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K plus B3C group. (B) K⁺ deprivation decreased the protein expression of p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 in a time-dependent manner. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected to Western blot for determining the protein expression of p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group). (C) B3C reversed the decrease in p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 caused by K⁺ deprivation. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium with or without 3 μ M B3C, and then subjected to Western blot at 1 h after treatment. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group), ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group.

3.2.5 B3C reverses the inhibition of Akt and ERK pathways caused by K⁺ deprivation

Since the Akt and ERK signaling pathways, two well-studied survival-promoting signaling mechanisms in CGNs, have been demonstrated to be downstreams of VEGFR-2 (Kilic et al. 2006; Shen et al. 2012), it is reasonably asked whether these pathways were associated with the paradigm of B3C.

First, to determine whether GSK3 β pathway was involved in K⁺ deprivation-induced neuronal death in our CGNs, SB415286, a specific inhibitor of GSK3 β , was selected to pre-treat the CGNs for 0.5 h prior to 24 h of K⁺ deprivation insult. With MTT assay, it was found that 3 and 10 μ M SB415286 blocked K⁺ deprivation-induced neuronal death (Fig. 3.2.5A). Thereafter, we tested the time course of p-Ser473-Akt and its downstream target p-Ser9-GSK 3 β with Western blot after K⁺ deprivation. As can be seen from Figs. 3.2.5B and 3.2.5C, it was very

obvious that K⁺ deprivation caused a significant decrease of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK 3 β , with a peak at 1 h. While, B3C at 3 μ M effectively reversed the decrease of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK 3 β caused by 1 h of K⁺ deprivation in CGNs (Fig. 3.2.5D). Furthermore, both pharmacological inhibition of PI3-K by LY294002 (10 and 30 μ M) and inhibition of VEGFR-2 by PTK/ZK (10 μ M) abolished the neuroprotective effects (Fig. 3.2.5A) and the reversal of decrease in p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK 3 β mediated by B3C (Fig. 3.2.5D).

Second, to examine whether activation of ERK pathway was associated with the neuroprotective effects of B3C in our CGNs. PD98059, a specific inhibitor of MEK, was employed to pre-treat the CGNs 0.5 h before the switch of CGNs into K⁺ deprived medium in the absence or presence of B3C. As expected, treatment with PD98059 (30 and 50 μ M) abolished the neuroprotection of B3C, while PD98059 itself was unable to block apoptosis (Fig. 3.2.6A). With the use of western blot, CGNs showed a significant decrease in p-ERK in the first 4 h after K⁺ deprivation, which is consistent with the previous study (Barneda-Zahonero et al. 2009). Meanwhile, B3C significantly increased the p-ERK at 1 h and 2 h after K⁺ deprivation (Fig. 3.2.6B). Both pharmacological inhibition of MEK1/2 with PD98059 and inhibition of VEGFR-2 with PTK/ZK returned p-ERK to 5K levels (Fig. 3.2.6C).



Fig.3.2.5 B3C reverses the inhibition of the PI3-K/Akt/GSK3 β pathway caused by K⁺ deprivation.

(A) PI3-K specific inhibitor (LY294002) partially abolished the neuroprotective effects of B3C. CGNs were pre-treated with LY294002 for 0.5 h in serum-free medium containing 25 mM KCl, then switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing 3 μ M B3C, and finally subjected to MTT reduction assay at 24 h after K⁺ deprivation. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group), ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group, ^{ΔΔ}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K plus B3C group. (B) K⁺ deprivation decreased the protein expression of p-Ser473-Akt in a time-dependent manner. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected to Western blot for determining the protein expression of p-Ser473-Akt. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group). (C) K⁺ deprivation decreased the protein expression of p-Ser9-GSK3β in a time-dependent manner. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected to control (25K group). (C) K⁺ deprivation decreased the protein expression of p-Ser9-GSK3β in a time-dependent manner. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected to Western blot for determining the protein expression of p-Ser9-GSK3β in a time-dependent manner. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium for 0.5, 1, 2, 4 and 8 h, and then subjected to Western blot for determining the protein expression of p-Ser9-GSK3β. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group). (D) B3C reversed the decrease of p-Ser473-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3β caused by K⁺ deprivation. CGNs

were switched to K⁺ deprived medium in the absence or presence of 3 μ M B3C, and then subjected to Western blot at 1 h after treatment. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group), ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group, ^{$\Delta\Delta$}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K plus B3C group.



Fig.3.2.6 B3C reverses the inhibition of the ERK pathway caused by K^+ deprivation.

(A) Pharmacological inhibition of MEK with specific inhibitor PD98059 (30 and 50 μ M) abolished the neuroprotective effects of B3C. CGNs were pre-treated with PD98059 for 0.5 h in serum-free medium containing 25 mM K⁺, then switched to K⁺ deprived medium containing 3 μ M B3C, and finally subjected to MTT reduction assay at 24 h after K⁺ deprivation. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to control (25K group); ^{##}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ^Δ, *p*< 0.05, compared to 5K plus B3C group. (B) B3C treatment induced a significant ERK phosphorylation. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium in the absence or presence of 3 μ M B3C, and then subjected to Western blot for determining the protein expression of p-ERK and ERK. [#], *p*<0.05, ^{##}, *p*<0.01, compared to 5K group. (C) B3C reversed the decrease of p-ERK caused by K⁺ deprivation. CGNs were switched to K⁺ deprived medium in the absence or presence of 3 μ M B3C at 1 h after treatment, and then subjected to Western blot analysis with p-ERK and ERK. **, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ^Δ, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ^Δ, *p*< 0.05, ^{ΔΔ}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ⁴, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group; ^Δ, *p*< 0.05, ^{ΔΔ}, *p*< 0.01, compared to 5K group.

(Hu S, et al. 2013, CNS Neurosci Ther. 19(10):764-72)

3.3

B3C promotes neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells via the activation of α7-nAChR

3.3.1 Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by B3C

NGF and dbcAMP substantially induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells, serving as positive controls in our neuronal model. The percentage of cells with neurites for cells treated with 7 days of NGF or dbcAMP reached to 74.0 ± 2.0 % and 53.1 ± 3.6 %, respectively (Fig. 3.3.1), an observation consistent with several previous studies (Daniele et al. 2010; Cui et al. 2011). B3C, but not tacrine and memantine, remarkably stimulated neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells in a concentration- and time-dependent manner (Figs. 3.3.1B and 3.3.1C), with the maximum percentage of 63.7 ± 2.0 % at 3 μ M (Fig. 3.3.2A). It is obvious that cells treated with B3C displayed typical differentiated morphologies of condensed cell bodies and extended neurite outgrowths, in contrast to the flattened cell bodies of the undifferentiated cells observed in the vehicle control (Fig. 3.3.2A). To further confirm our morphological observation at the molecular level, the expression of growth-associated protein-43 (GAP-43), a neuron-specific protein which exhibits enhanced synthesis and axonal fast-transport during nerve regeneration, was examined using Western blot analysis. It was found that 7-day treatment of PC12 cells with 3 µM B3C showed extensive expression of GAP-43, which is comparable to those treatment with NGF and dbcAMP (Fig. 3.3.2B).



Fig. 3.3.1 Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by B3C.

(A) Schematic diagram shows the timeline and general procedures for assessment of the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of various chemicals in PC12 cells. Cells were plated on day -1, then treated with various chemicals on day 0, and morphologically quantified on day 2, day 4 or day 7. When cells had been differentiation for a number of days, experimental chemicals were renewed every other day. The cells were scored as differentiated if one or more neurites were longer than the diameter of cell body observed in at least 5 randomly selected microscopic fields. (B) B3C induced neurite outgrowth in a concentration-dependent manner. PC12 cells were seeded on poly-L-lysine-coated 6-well plates in growth medium for 24 h, then shifted to low serum medium containing various chemicals for 7 days, and the percentage of cells with neurites were counted using phase-contrast microscope. (C) B3C induced neurite outgrowth in a time-dependent manner. PC12 cells were incubated in low serum medium containing B3C (3 μ M), tacrine (30 μ M), memantine (30 μ M), dbcAMP (3 mM) or NGF (100 ng/ml) for different lengths of time, and the percentage of cells with neurites was then analyzed.







Fig. 3.3.2 Differentiation of PC12 cells toward a neuronal phenotype induced by B3C.

(A) Morphological characteristics of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells induced by B3C. PC12 cells were incubated with various chemicals in low serum medium for 7 days, and cell morphology was observed using phase-contrast microscopy and photographed by the digital camera. Scale bar = 50 μ m. (B) B3C upregulated the protein expression of GAP-43 in PC12 cells. PC12 cells were incubated with various chemicals in low serum medium for 7 days, and the total proteins were subjected to Western blot analysis using anti-GAP-43 and anti- β -actin antibodies. **, p<0.01, compared to control group.

3.3.2 Promotion of neurite outgrowth in primary cortical neurons by B3C

To confirm the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C, we further used dissociated rat cortical neuron cultures as our model system. As shown in Fig. 3.3.3, treatment of cortical neurons with B3C (0.1 and 0.3 μ M) for 48 h significantly increased neurite outgrowth, as compared with the vehicle control. Immunostaining-based quantitative study also demonstrated that B3C caused a concentration-dependent increase in the length of β III tubulin-positive neurites.



Fig. 3.3.3 Promotion of neurite outgrowth in rat cortical neurons by B3C.

(A) Cortical neurons were treated at 3 DIV in the absence or presence of B3C for 48 h. Upper: Phase-contrast digital images of the cells were taken using a phase-contrast microscope. Middle: Neuronal cultures were anti- β III-tubulin-positive. Lower: β III-tubulin-stained neurites were digitally characterized and skeletonized for quantification by NeuriteTracer program. Scale bar = 100 µm. (B) Cortical neurons were treated at 3 DIV in the absence or presence of B3C for 2 days, neurons were then fixed and analysis for the length of β III-tubulin-positive neurites by using

NeuriteTracer program.

3.3.3 Synergistic neurite outgrowth induced by B3C plus NGF or dbcAMP

To investigate the synergistic effects of B3C plus NGF and dbcAMP, PC12 cells were treated with B3C in combination with either NGF or dbcAMP. It was observed that the effects of 3 ng/ml NGF and 0.3 μ M dbcAMP on neurite outgrowth was remarkably potentiated by simultaneous treatment with 0.5 μ M B3C (Fig. 3.3.4).



Fig. 3.3.4 Synergistic neurite outgrowth induced by B3C plus NGF or dbcAMP.

PC12 cells were exposed to B3C (1 μ M) in the presence or absence of NGF (3 ng/ml) or dbcAMP (0.1 mM) for 7 days. The percentage of cells with neurites was counted using phase-contrast microscopy. ^{*}, p<0.05, compared to control group, ^{**}, p<0.01, compared to control group.

3.3.4 Activation of ERK pathway, but not P38 and JNK pathway, is associated with B3C-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells

To determine whether ERK, P38 and JNK signaling pathways were involved in B3C-induced neurite outgrowth, PD98059 and U0126, the specific inhibitors of MEK, SB203580, the specific inhibitor of P38 and SP600125, and the specific inhibitor of JNK, were selected to treat PC12 cells 2 h before the addition of B3C. It was found that PD98059 and U0126, but not SB203580 and SP600125, partially abolished the outgrowth of neurites induced by B3C (Fig. 3.3.5A). To further confirm whether B3C induced neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells through the activation of ERK pathway, the level of p-ERK was measured by Western blot analysis. It was shown that B3C upregulated the expression of p-ERK, which peaked at 1 h and lasted for 4 h after treatment (Fig. 3.3.5B).



Fig. 3.3.5 Activation of ERK pathway is involved in the neurite outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C.

(A) MEK inhibitors, but not P38 and JNK inhibitors, partially attenuated the neurite outgrowth induced by B3C in PC12 cells. Cells were pre-treated with specific inhibitors (PD98059, U0126, SB203580 and SP600125) in low serum medium for 2 h, and then incubated with 3 μ M B3C for 7 days. The percentage of cells with neurites was counted using phase-contrast microscopy. ^{**}, p<0.01, compared to control group,

[#], p<0.05, compared to B3C group, ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to B3C group. (B) B3C upregulated p-ERK in PC12 cells. Cells were incubated with 3 μ M B3C in low serum medium for different durations, and the total proteins were subjected to Western blot analysis using anti-p-ERK and anti-ERK antibodies. ^{**}, p<0.01, compared to control group.

3.3.5 Pharmacological inhibition of alpha7-nAChR partially abolishes the B3C-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells

To determine whether B3C-induced neurite outgrowth through regulation of NGF/TrkA system, K252a, the specific inhibitor of Trk A, was used to treat PC12 cells 2 h before the addition of B3C. It was found that K252a, at its effective concentration, did not block neurite outgrowth induced by B3C, whereas it could block the neurite outgrowth induced by NGF (Fig. 3.3.6A). It has been revealed that acetylcholine receptors (AChRs) were implicated in neuronal differentiation. To test whether B3C could exert neurite outgrowth-promoting activity via regulation of AChRs, atropine, the specific inhibitor of muscarinic AChR (mAChR), and mecamylamine and tubocurarine, the specific inhibitors of nicotinic AChR (nAChR) were selected to treat PC12 cells 2 h before the addition of B3C. It was shown that 10 μ M tubocurarine and 10 μ M mecamylamine, but not 10 μ M atropine partially abolished the outgrowth of neurite induced by B3C (Fig. 3.3.6B). Additionally, methyllycaconitine (MLA), the specific antagonist of α 7-nAChR, partially inhibited the outgrowth of neurite induced by B3C (Fig. 3.3.6D). Furthermore, 2 h of pre-treatment of PC12 cells with MLA as well as PD98059, but not atropine, significantly inhibited the elevated level of p-ERK (Fig. 3.3.6C).



Control

B3C

PD98059











MLA



Fig. 3.3.6 Pharmacological inhibition of α 7-nAChR partially abrogates the neurite outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C.

(A) Trk A specific inhibitor was unable to attenuate neurite outgrowth induced by B3C in PC12 cells. Cells were pre-treated with K252a for 2 h, and then incubated with 3 µM B3C or 100 ng/ml NGF. The percentage of cells with neurites were counted using phase-contrast microscopy 7 days after treatment. **, p<0.01, compared to control group, ΔA , p<0.01, compared to NGF group, (B) The antagonist of α 7-nAChR partially abolished neurite outgrowth induced by B3C in PC12 cells. Cells were pre-treated with atropine, mecamylamine, tubocurarine and MLA for 2 h, and then incubated with 3 µM B3C. The percentage of cells with neurites was counted using phase-contrast microscopy 7 days after treatment. **, p<0.01, compared to control group, [#], p<0.05, compared to B3C group. (C) The antagonist of α 7-nAChR attenuated the activation of p-ERK induced by B3C in PC12 cells. Cells were pre-treated with atropine, mecamylamine and MLA for 2 h, and then incubated with 3 µM B3C for 30 min. The total proteins were extracted and subjected to Western blot analysis using anti-p-ERK and anti-ERK antibodies.^{**}, p<0.01, compared to control group. [#], p<0.05, compared to B3C group, ^{##}, p<0.01, compared to B3C group. (D) Morphological characteristics of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells treated with specific inhibitors. Cells were pre-treated with PD98059, MLA and K252a for 2 h, and then incubated with 3 µM B3C for 7 days, and cell morphology was observed using phase-contrast microscopy and photographed by a digital camera. Scale bar = $50 \mu m$.

3.3.6 Gene knockdown of α 7-nAChR abolishes the B3C-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells

To investigate whether the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C mainly act through α 7-nAChR, we tested the neurite outgrowth-promoting effects of B3C in ShRNA-mediated α 7-nAChR knockdown PC12 cells. With the use of western blot, α 7-nAChR ShRNA (Sh α 7-nAChR) caused a reduction in α 7-nAChR protein level, whereas the negative control ShRNA (ShNC) and vector had no effect on α 7-nAChR protein level (Fig. 3.3.7A). In addition, in contrast to the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C observed in the vector or in the ShNC-treated PC12 cells, B3C in α 7-nAChR knockdown PC12 cells was no longer able to induce neurite outgrowth (Fig. 3.3.7 B, C).




 $h\alpha$ 7-nAChR

B3C



Fig. 3.3.7 α 7-nAChR depletion partially abrogates the neurite outgrowth-promoting activities of B3C.

(A) PC12 cells were transiently transfected with pGPU6-green fluorescent protein (GFP) plasmid (vector) and pGPU6-GFP plasmid encoding α 7-nAChR ShRNA (Sh α 7-nAChR ShRNA). GFP was evaluated by fluorescence microscopy to estimate transfection efficiency. The levels of α 7-nAChR and β -actin in the cell lysates were tested by western blot using specific antibodies. (B, C) α 7-nAChR depletion abolished the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C. PC12 cells transfected with vector or Sh α 7-nAChR were incubated with 3 μ M B3C in low serum medium for 2 days, and the percentage of cells with neurites was counted using phase-contrast microscope. ^{Δ}, p<0.05, compared to vector group,^{**}, p<0.01, compared to control group, [#], p<0.05, compared to Sh α 7-nAChR group. Scale bar = 50 μ m.

Chapter 4

Discussion

4.1 B3C protects against glutamate-induced apoptosis more potently than memantine via concurrent regulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β, downstream of NMDA receptors

Preparation of primary cultures of CGNs were first established 30 years ago (Gallo et al. 1982), and since then have been widely used in the study of neuroscience. Neurotoxicity triggered by small molecules, such as β -amyloid, tau protein, glutamate and oxidative stress, have been well characterized in cultured CGNs (Wigdal et al. 2002; Maycotte et al. 2010; Thellung et al. 2013). These molecules trigger the activation / inactivation of similar signaling pathways in CGNs as those in the hippocampal and cortical neurons (Contestabile, 2002). Moreover, over 95 % of the neurons in cerebellum belong to CGNs, it is much more convenient to obtain homogeneous CGNs from the dissected cerebellum than other homogenous neurons. CGNs were therefore used as a cell model in our research.

Excitatory neurotransmission mediated by the activation of NMDA receptors is of vital importance in the physiological processes in the mammalian CNS, however, over-stimulation of NMDA receptors triggers several pathological processes that underlie the pathogenesis of AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Chen et al. 2008). As such, uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists with UFO property have been demonstrated to be effective and well tolerated for treating acute or chronic neurodegenerative diseases in which the neurotoxicity mediated by over-activation of NMDA receptors are involved (Lipton 2007a, 2007b). B3C (novel dimer synthesized in our team) and memantine (FDA-approved anti-AD drug), two well-characterized uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists, were investigated for their neuroprotective effects and downstream signaling pathways in this research. In Section 3.1, it was found that B3C protected against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in rat primary CGNs 10 times more potently than memantine, and the full neuroprotections of B3C and memantine were associated with the concurrent modulation of NO, ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathways, three downstream signaling pathways of NMDA receptors.

Although it has been demonstrated that B3C, similar to memantine, moderately antagonize NMDA receptors on the membrane with moderate potency and strong voltage dependence (Luo et al. 2010), little is known about the detailed mechanisms of the neuroprotective effects and the intracellular signaling pathways downstream of NMDA receptor against neurotoxins, such as glutamate. In the current study, by using the primary rat CGNs, it was observed that B3C protects neurons against 100 µM glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in a concentration-and time-dependent manner with an IC_{50} value of 0.45 μ M (MTT assay) and 0.46 μ M (LDH assay), respectively, an observation 10 times more potent than those produced by memantine (4.58 µM and 4.63 μ M, respectively). In addition, B3C at 3 μ M, which is equivalent to memantine at 30 µM, almost completely blocked the hallmarks of apoptosis induced by glutamate, as assayed by Hoechst staining and DNA fragmentation. Based on the fact that the most distinctive neuronal loss associated with AD is seen in the CA1 region of hippocampus, and that NMDA receptors show different subunits in various regions of the brain (hippocampus, cortex, cerebellum), it is much more valuable to investigate

the neuroprotective effects of B3C against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in hippocampal neurons. Our previous study has shown that B3C effectively reverses middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO)-induced impairments in rats (Luo et al. 2010). A growing body of evidence has indicated that multiple targets including over-activation of NMDA receptors in hippocampus, striatum and cortex are implicated in MCAO-insulted rats (Luo et al. 2010; Zhao et al. 2012). We therefore speculate B3C may protect hippocampal neurons against glutamate–induced neuronal death. And we will directly analyze the neuroprotective effects of B3C in hippocampal neurons in our future study.

Why did B3C block glutamate-induced apoptosis at such a high potency (10 times more potent than memantine)? Presumably, there are several reasons. First, the neuroprotection ability produced by NMDA receptor antagonists is strongly associated with their ability in inhibiting NMDA-activated currents. It has been reported that B3C inhibits NMDA-activated currents with an IC₅₀ value of 0.52 μ M, an observation 3 times more potent than memantine (IC₅₀, 1.68 μ M), which may be responsible for the better NMDA receptor blockage of B3C. The discrepancy between inhibition against the NMDA-activated current (B3C is 3 times more potent than memantine) and neuroprotection against glutamate excitotoxicity (B3C is 10 times more potent than memantine) may be mainly explained by the different *in vitro* model systems and / or different patterns of treatments with chemicals. Second, since B3C is derived from its monomer tacrine and has comparable AChE inhibition to tacrine, it is reasonably asked whether the powerful neuroprotection of B3C is produced by its

inhibition on AChE activity. We've studied this, and it turns out that the neuroprotection of B3C is independently associated with its AChE inhibitory effect, as two other AChE inhibitors (tacrine and donepezil) failed to block the neuronal death induced by glutamate. However, we could not exclude the possibility that B3C may affect other contributing targets in the membrane, cytoplasm, mitochondria or even nucleus. We have recently shown that bis(7)-tacrine, another tacrine dimer that has methylene linkers instead of 3 in B3C, provides full neuroprotection against glutamate-induced apoptosis through concurrent blockage of both NMDA receptor on the membrane and nNOS in the cytoplasm (Li et al. 2007), suggesting that direct inhibition of nNOS may contribute to the high potency of B3C. Further examinations are being conducted to validate this hypothesis.

It has been demonstrated that over-activation of NMDA receptors by excessive glutamate causes a massive influx of calcium into neurons, and subsequently initiates a series of pathological processes in cytoplasm, mitochondria and nucleus, and eventually destroy cellular components and result in neuronal death (Molinuevo et al. 2005; Hilton et al. 2006; Stanika et al. 2009). Therefore, NMDA receptor antagonists such as B3C and memantine are believed to inhibit this cascade of process through blocking the upstream target on the membrane. On the contrary, the intracellular signaling pathways have been yet unknown. Several lines of evidence have indicated that the activation of NO, MAPK pathways and inhibition of GSK3β pathway represent the main well-characterized downstream pathways of calcium and NMDA receptor and responsible for the intracellular signaling pathways in glutamate-induced

neurotoxicity (Stanciu et al. 2000; Montoliu et al. 2001; Chen et al. 2003; Li et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2008). However, the relationship among these three pathways remains still unknown. In our *in vitro* system, it is found that NOS inhibitor, MEK inhibitor and GSK3 β inhibitor, at their efficacy, could only partially prevents against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity in CGNs, which is consistent with our previous reports (Pi et al. 2004; Li et al. 2005). Most importantly, the co-application of these three inhibitors provides full neuroprotection in CGNs, suggesting that these inhibitors of NOS, MEK1/2 and GSK3 β might function in a separate parallel signaling pathway rather than in an upstream or downstream of a single cascade pathway to reverse glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. However, we have not excluded any uncharacterized side effects of these inhibitors that may contribute to the full neuroprotection.

The findings from pharmacological inhibition and western blot indicate that pre-treatment with B3C and memantine blocks a series of cellular pathological changes induced by glutamate, such as the abnormal increase of intracellular NO production, the activation of phosphorylated ERK protein, and the down-regulated phosphorylated Akt and GSK3 β . These data taken together suggest that the two agents might provide full neuroprotection via concurrent modulation of NO, ERK and GSK3 β pathways, the well-characterized downstream signaling pathways of NMDA receptor, to attenuate subsequent caspase cascades and rescue the dying neurons.

98

4.2 B3C blocks K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs via the activation of VEGFR-2

Apoptotic cell death is of vital importance and can be observed throughout the neural development (Nijhawan et al. 2000; Fu et al. 2008). On the contrary, unregulated excessive apoptosis correlates with the pathogenesis of AD and other neurodegenerative disorders. As such, agents with anti-apoptotic property may have therapeutic significance (Fu et al. 2008). In Section 3.2, it is found that B3C effectively blocks K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis in rat CGNs in a concentration-dependent manner, and the neuroprotection of B3C is associated with the activation of VEGFR-2/Akt/GSK3 β and VEGFR-2/ERK pathways.

With the use of CGNs, a well studied *in vitro* model for the study of neuroscience, it was observed that B3C dose-dependently blocked K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs with an IC₅₀ value of 0.37 μ M. Since B3C is synthesized through the dimerization of tacrine and has comparable AChE inhibition to tacrine, it is reasonably asked whether the robust neuroprotection of B3C is associated with its AChE inhibition. However, tacrine and donepezil (commonly used AChE inhibitors), failed to block the apoptosis induced by K⁺ deprivation. Moreover, it has been reported the activation of cholinergic receptors could attenuate the apoptosis induced by various neurotoxins (Meyer et al. 2002). In our study, neither atropine nor dihydro- β -erythroidine was able to abolish the neuroprotective effect of B3C. Taken together, these results indicate that the inhibition of B3C against K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis is independently associated with its AChE inhibition and / or cholinergic transmission. In addition, MK801 and memantine, two commonly used NMDA receptor antagonists, hardly provided any neuroprotection against neuronal apoptosis induced by K^+ deprivation, suggesting that the neuroprotection of B3C is independently associated with its NMDA receptor antagonism.

Under K⁺ deprivation condition, dissected CGNs depend on neurotrophic support to differentiate, develop and survive. For instance, VEGF has been recently demonstrated to be directly neurotrophic to cultured CNS neurons in vitro through the activation of VEGFR-2 (Keck et al. 1989), (Wick et al. 2002; Rosenstein et al. 2003), the major VEGF receptors widely expressed on neurons, e.g. CGNs (Zachary 2005). It has been reported that VEGF could be secreted by CGNs or the small quantity (5 %) of contaminated astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in the culture (Wick et al. 2002). Based on these, we hypothesize that B3C, through the modulation of VEGF/VEGFR-2 system either by enhancing the secretion of VEGF or by acting as a VEGFR-2 agonist, blocks the apoptosis induced by K⁺ deprivation. In this current study, it is found that K^+ deprivation down-regulates the protein expression of phosphorylated VEGFR-2 in CGNs, and that B3C effectively reverse the activation of VEGFR-2 inhibited by K⁺ deprivation. Moreover, the neuroprotective effect of B3C is partially abolished by PTK787/ZK222584, a specific VEGFR-2 inhibitor, suggesting that the neuroprotective effect is, at least, associated with the activation of VEGFR-2.

To further investigate the involvement of VEGFR-2 in the neuroprotective effect of B3C against K^+ deprivation, Akt and ERK pathways, two well-characterized critical pathways which act downstream of VEGFR-2 and involved in neuronasl

100

survival (Matsuzaki et al. 2001; Wick et al. 2002), have been examined in succession. For CGNs in particular, growth factors-mediated PI3-K/Akt pathway appears to be the predominant pro-survival pathway (Dudek et al. 1997). It is obvious that K^+ deprivation induces a rapid, reversible and time-dependent decrease in the phosphorylation, rather than protein expression, of Akt and GSK3β, which is consistent with other previous studies (Zhu et al. 2004; Zhong et al. 2007; Yeste-Velasco et al. 2009). However, B3C effectively reversed these activation of phosphorylated proteins inhibited by K⁺ deprivation. Furthermore, both VEGFR inhibitor PTK/ZK and PI3-K inhibitor LY294002, partially abolished the neuroprotective effect and activation of VEGFR-2/Akt pathway induced by B3C, of neuroprotective effect B3C is dependent suggesting the on the VEGFR-2/Akt/GSK3β pathway.

Several studies have indicated that an early increase in the activation of ERK protein is related to the neuroprotective effect provided by extracellular factors to CGNs subjected to K^+ deprived medium (Bonni et al. 1999). On the other hand, some reports have argued that the delayed activation of ERK is associated with CGNs death in K^+ deprived medium (Subramaniam et al. 2003). As such, such neuroprotection against K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis would probably depend on an early positive and a delayed negative modulation of ERK phosphorylation. In accordance with these, it is observed that treatment with B3C induced an early activation of ERK as demonstrated by the increase in the phosphorylation of ERK. Although it remains to be further elucidated whether B3C could inhibit the delayed increase in ERK

phosphorylation caused by K⁺ deprivation, the fact that pharmacological inhibition of MEK1/2 significantly inhibited the increase in neuronal survival and phosphorylated ERK mediated by B3C clearly indicates that the neuroprotection of B3C against apoptosis induced by K⁺ deprivation in CGNs is dependent on a MEK/ERK signaling pathway. Most importantly, the activation of ERK pathway mediated by B3C is obviously from the activation of VEGFR-2, as the VEGFR-2 specific inhibitor PTK/ZK partially abolishes the increased phosphorylated ERK caused by B3C.

Though the exact target or the interaction still remains to be further studied, results form our study has demonstrated that B3C effectively blocks K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs via the activation of VEGFR-2/Akt and VEGFR-2/ERK pathways, rather than the inhibition of AChE and the blockage of NMDA receptor. Based on the fact that activation of VEGFR-2 is mainly modulated by receptor dimerization and autophosphorylation after specific ligand binding (Holmes et al. 2007), we speculate that B3C provides neuroprotection through either directly interacting with VEGFR-2 as a potential agonist or indirectly facilitating the activation of VEGFR-2. B3C might stabilize the dimerization or increase the endogeneous VEGF from elevating its translation, transcription or post-transcription. To validate the hypothesis that B3C directly acts on VEGFR-2, further experiments such as whole-cell ligand dependent autophosphorylation assays are being undertaken in our laboratory. To confirm that B3C exerts neuroprotection through enhancing the endocrine secretion of VEGF, several experiments may needed as follows: a) evaluating the amount of secreted VEGF using ELISA; b) investigating the effects of B3C on VEGF transcription using RT-PCR; c) examining the effects of B3C on VEGF translation using Western blot. The precise mechanisms of the neuroprotective effect of B3C would be revealed by our further studies.

Because of its neuroprotective property, VEGF has been recently considered to be a therapeutic agent against AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Storkebaum et al. 2005). However, side effects such as pro-inflammation, pro-angiogenesis and pro-carcinogenesis limit its further development of anti-AD drugs (Takahashi and Shibuya 2005). Our findings that B3C offers robust neuroprotection via the activation of VEGFR-2/Akt and VEGFR-2/ERK pathways provide a new molecular insight into the therapeutic potential of B3C for preventing and treating neurodegenerative disorders.

4.3 B3C induces neuronal differentiation via the activation of α7-nAChR

Many lines of evidence underscore the tight link between neuronal loss and the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative disease, including in four of serious diseases Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, ALS and Huntington's (Rossler et al. 2002; Zilkova et al. 2006; Golde 2009; Marinova-Mutafchieva et al. 2009). Compounds that stimulate neuronal differentiation and regeneration would be of great importance for developing new therapeutics against these brain disorders. In Section 3.3, we investigated the effects of B3C on neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells and cortical neurons, and came up with several novel observations: 1), B3C, but not tacrine and memantine, induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells and cortical neurons in a concentration- and time-dependent manner. 2), the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C is associated with the sustained activation of ERK pathway possibly through the activation of α 7-nAChR.

GAP-43 is a nervous tissue-specific cytoplasmic protein that displays elevated synthesis and axonal fast-transport during nerve regeneration and therefore, serve as a useful indicator of PC12 cell differentiation (Schimmelpfeng et al. 2004; Lai et al. 2011). In this research, in addition to the morphological changes, B3C induced neurite outgrowth with significant higher expression of GAP-43 protein after incubation for 7 days, which is comparable to those treatment with NGF or dbcAMP. Since B3C is a novel AChE inhibitor derived from tacrine and exerts uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonism, it is reasonable to investigate whether B3C exerts its effects through inhibition of AChE activity or NMDA receptors. However, tacrine (an AChE inhibitor) and memantine (an uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist), at their effective concentration, were unable to induce outgrowth of neurite, suggesting the AChE- and NMDA receptor-independent pathway in B3C-induced neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells.

It has been well revealed that mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPKs) phosphorylation may trigger several protein signaling cascades and affect various cellular processes, such as neurite outgrowth. We therefore considered the involvement of MAPKs in B3C-induced neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells. It was found that ERK but not P38 and JNK specific inhibitors attenuated the percentage of cells with neurites induced by B3C, suggesting that ERK but not P38 and JNK pathways may be involved in B3C-induced neurite outgrowth in our model. Consistent with the morphological changes observed by microscope, B3C induced a rapid and reversible upregulation of ERK phosphorylation, peaking at 30 min, similar to that reported for NGF. However, the kinetics of ERK phosphorylation is slightly different because NGF causes a maximal increase in ERK phosphorylation at 5-30 min, and then returns to its basal level 2 h after the treatment (Santos et al. 2007), whereas B3C shows a more sustained activation of ERK phosphorylation that lasted for 4 h after induction. These differences may contribute to the synergistic effects on the neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells treated with the combination of B3C and NGF. It may also sustain and extend the induction time longer than NGF.

Since treatment of PC12 cells with a selective TrkA inhibitor, K252a, could not

105

abolished the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity induced by B3C, TrkA activation seems not to be involved in the response of cells to B3C. Several lines of evidence have demonstrated the involvement of α 7-nAChR in the neuronal differentiation in PC12 cells (Resende et al. 2008; Nery et al. 2010). Upregulation of α7-nAChR activity allows the influx of Ca^{2+} which further activates the downstream signaling pathways, such as ERK. It was observed in our research that a7-nAChR specific inhibitors, MLA, partially abolished neurite outgrowth in parallel to ERK activation induced by B3C, which confirms the importance of α 7-nAChR in the neurite outgrowth of PC12 cells and support ERK as a pro-differentiation pathway in PC12 cells. In parallel, knockdown of α7-nAChR abolished neurite gene outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C. However, we do not rule out other contributing targets in the membrane, cytoplasm and nucleus, such as G-protein coupled receptor or cAMP. To validate the hypothesis that B3C exerts neurite outgrowth activity via the direct activation of a7-nAChR, more molecule biology experiments, such as whole cell electrophysiological analysis, receptor-ligand binding assay, are being undertaken in our laboratory. The precise mechanism of these effects of B3C will be revealed by further studies.

Research has shown that the brains of people with Alzheimer's disease (AD) show a progressive loss of neurons that use acetylcholine (ACh) and glutamate as chemical messenger. The loss of these neurons is related to the severity of memory dysfunction that AD patients experience. Actually, the use of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitors and NMDA receptor antagonists for AD have been realized in the

use of donepezil, rivastigmine, galantamine and memantine in successful treatment of mild to moderate and moderate to severe AD, respectively.

Our previous studies have demonstrated that B3C, a novel dimer derived from tacrine, protects neurons against scopolamine (mAChR antagonist) and middle cerebral artery occlusion (the excitotoxicity is strongly associated with the over-activation of NMDA receptor)-induced brain damage in AD-related animal models (Luo et al. 2010; Han et al. 2012). More encouragingly, under NMDA receptor-mediated physiological conditions, B3C is able to enhance hippocampal long-term potentiation, a molecular basis of memory formation. These results, taken together, suggest that neuroprotection via multiple targets may represent the primary drug actions of B3C in AD patients and normal individual.

Neural stem cells (NSC) proliferate in the subventricular zone (SGZ) and subventricular zone (SVZ) of adult mammals. However, the number of endogenous neural stem cells is insufficient to prevent the insult of neurotoxins associated with AD. Transplantation of exogenous NSC may migrate into brain damaged areas and has thus been proposed as a promising therapeutic strategy in AD. Under this condition, agents that can promote or enhance neuronal differentiation might induce NSC differentiate into fully mature neurons in the micro-environments of the AD patients brain with amelioration of the memory deficits. It is therefore conjectured that neuronal differentiation might represent the primary drug actions of B3C when AD patients is in the therapy of transplantation of NSC.

4.4 Summary and conclusions

In the current study, B3C, a promising anti-Alzheimer's dimer, was found to provide multiple neuroprotections against glutamate and K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis, as well as neuronal differentiation (Fig. 4.1).

(1) B3C (IC₅₀, 0.45 μ M) prevented glutamate-induced excitotoxicity 10 times more potently than memantine (IC₅₀, 4.58 μ M) in CGNs, as evidenced by cell viability and lactate dehydrogenase release assays. Additionally, B3C pretreatment could inhibit the increase of intracellular NO and the activation of p-ERK, and reverse the suppression of p-Ser-Akt and p-Ser9-GSK3ß caused by glutamate. Furthermore, the neuroprotection of B3C was abolished by PI3-K inhibitor LY294002. Meanwhile, pharmacological inhibition showed that neither the single specific inhibitors of NOS (L-NMMA), MEK1/2 (U0126) and GSK3β (SB415286 and LiCl) nor the combinations of any two of them could fully protect against glutamate-induced apoptosis. However, the co-application of these three inhibitors produced nearly 100% inhibition of glutamate-induced apoptosis. Combining these and our previous studies, it is conjectured that B3C elicits neuroprotection against glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in CGNs through the blockage of NMDA receptor and subsequently concurrent inhibition of NO, ERK pathways and activation of PI3-K/Akt/GSK3ß pathway.

(2) B3C remarkably blocked K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs with an IC₅₀ value of 0.37 μ M. However, the existing anti-Alzheimer's drugs, Aricept (donepezil) and ebixa (memantine), were unable to attenuate the apoptosis under the

same condition, indicating that the neuroprotection of B3C is independent of its AChE inhibition and NMDA receptor antagonism. A rapid decrease in p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 was observed after the switch of CGNs to K^+ deprived medium. B3C significantly reversed the inhibition of p-Tyr1054-VEGFR-2 in our model. Moreover, the Akt and ERK pathways, two critical pathways downstream of VEGFR-2, were also recovered from K⁺ deprivation-induced inhibition by B3C. VEGFR-2 specific inhibitor PTK/ZK, as well as PI3-K inhibitor LY294002 and MEK inhibitor PD98059, each abolished the neuroprotection of B3C. Taken together, these results suggest that B3C blocks K⁺ deprivation-induced apoptosis in CGNs possibly through regulating VEGFR-2/Akt/GSK3ß and VEGFR-2/ERK signaling pathways but independent of AChE inhibition and NMDA receptor blockage.

(3) B3C substantially induced neurite outgrowth in a concentration- and time-dependent manner in PC12 cells, as evidenced by the increase in the percentage of cells with condensed cell bodies and extended neurites as well as expression of neuronal marker GAP-43. The neurite outgrowth-promoting activities were also observed in primary cultured cortical neurons, as evidenced by the increase in the length of β III tubulin-positive neurites. In addition, B3C synergistically induced neurite outgrowth with NGF or dbcAMP. Furthermore, B3C rapidly and reversibly upregulated phosphorylation of ERK, a critical signaling molecule in neuronal differentiation. Specific inhibitors of MEK and α 7-nAChR, but not those of P38 and JNK, blocked the neurite outgrowth as well as the activation of ERK induced by B3C. Concordantly, gene knockdown of α 7-nAChR using short hairpin RNA (ShRNA)

abolished the neurite outgrowth-promoting activity of B3C. These results taken together suggest that B3C induces neurite outgrowth possibly through activation of α 7-nAChR and subsequent ERK pathway.

(4) In conclusion, B3C provided multiple neuroprotections through a) the blockage of NMDA receptor and subsequently concurrent regulation of NO, ERK pathways and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3β pathway; b) the activation of VEGFR-2/Akt/GSK3β and VEGFR-2/ERK signaling pathways. In addition, B3C promoted neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells via the activation of α 7-nAChR. Combining these novel findings with our previous studies, we propose that B3C could provide great therapeutic efficacy by concurrently targeting different sites in the brain of patients with neurodegenerative diseases. To be specific, as the synergism between anti-AChE, anti-GABA_A receptor, anti-NMDA receptor, anti-apoptosis and pro-neuronal differentiation might serve as the most effective therapeutic strategy for prevention and treatment and even modification of pathological processes of neurodegenerative diseases, our findings not only provide the molecular insights and detailed mechanisms by which B3C may have therapeutic significance, but also offer novel insights into the molecular basis for the development of potent therapeutic strategies for neurodegenerative diseases.



Fig. 4.1 The molecular mechanisms underlying the multiple activities of B3C.

Signaling transduction pathways involved in glutamate-induced excitotoxicity are depicted by blue lines, those involved in K^+ deprivation-induced apoptosis are indicated by the green lines, and those involved in B3C-mediated neuronal differentiation are represented by the red lines.

References

Alberca R., Montes-Latorre E., Gil-Neciga E., Mir-Rivera P. and Lozano-San Martin P. (2002) [Alzheimer's disease and women]. *Rev Neurol* **35**, 571-579.

Aliev G., Obrenovich M. E., Reddy V. P., Shenk J. C., Moreira P. I., Nunomura A., Zhu X., Smith M. A. and Perry G. (2008) Antioxidant therapy in Alzheimer's disease: theory and practice. *Mini Rev Med Chem* **8**, 1395-1406.

Almeida S., Sarmento-Ribeiro A. B., Januario C., Rego A. C. and Oliveira C. R. (2008) Evidence of apoptosis and mitochondrial abnormalities in peripheral blood cells of Huntington's disease patients. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **374**, 599-603.

Armentero M. T., Fancellu R., Nappi G., Bramanti P. and Blandini F. (2006) Prolonged blockade of NMDA or mGluR5 glutamate receptors reduces nigrostriatal degeneration while inducing selective metabolic changes in the basal ganglia circuitry in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* **22**, 1-9.

Atlante A., Bobba A., Paventi G., Pizzuto R. and Passarella S. (2010) Genistein and daidzein prevent low potassium-dependent apoptosis of cerebellar granule cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* **79**, 758-767.

Auld D. S., Kornecook T. J., Bastianetto S. and Quirion R. (2002) Alzheimer's disease and the basal forebrain cholinergic system: relations to beta-amyloid peptides, cognition, and treatment strategies. *Prog Neurobiol* **68**, 209-245.

Bachis A., Colangelo A. M., Vicini S., Doe P. P., De Bernardi M. A., Brooker G. and Mocchetti I. (2001) Interleukin-10 prevents glutamate-mediated cerebellar granule cell death by blocking caspase-3-like activity. *J Neurosci* **21**, 3104-3112.

Barneda-Zahonero B., Minano-Molina A., Badiola N., Fado R., Xifro X., Saura C. A. and Rodriguez-Alvarez J. (2009) Bone morphogenetic protein-6 promotes cerebellar granule neurons survival by activation of the MEK/ERK/CREB pathway. *Mol Biol Cell* **20**, 5051-5063.

Boje K. M. (2004) Nitric oxide neurotoxicity in neurodegenerative diseases. Front Biosci 9, 763-776.

Bonni A., Brunet A., West A. E., Datta S. R., Takasu M. A. and Greenberg M. E. (1999) Cell survival promoted by the Ras-MAPK signaling pathway by transcription-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Science* **286**, 1358-1362.

Brinton R. D., Chen S., Montoya M., Hsieh D. and Minaya J. (2000) The estrogen replacement therapy of the Women's Health Initiative promotes the cellular mechanisms of memory and neuronal survival in neurons vulnerable to Alzheimer's disease. *Maturitas* **34 Suppl 2**, S35-52.

Butterfield D. A. and Pocernich C. B. (2003) The glutamatergic system and Alzheimer's disease: therapeutic implications. *CNS Drugs* **17**, 641-652.

Campbell N. R., Fernandes C. C., Halff A. W. and Berg D. K. (2010) Endogenous signaling through alpha7-containing nicotinic receptors promotes maturation and integration of adult-born neurons in the hippocampus. *J Neurosci* **30**, 8734-8744.

Carlier P. R., Han Y. F., Chow E. S., Li C. P., Wang H., Lieu T. X., Wong H. S. and Pang Y. P. (1999) Evaluation of short-tether bis-THA AChE inhibitors. A further test of the dual binding site hypothesis. *Bioorg Med Chem* **7**, 351-357.

Carlson J. J., Farquhar J. W., DiNucci E., Ausserer L., Zehnder J., Miller D., Berra K., Hagerty L. and Haskell W. L. (2007) Safety and efficacy of a ginkgo biloba-containing dietary supplement on cognitive function, quality of life, and platelet function in healthy, cognitively intact older adults. *J Am Diet Assoc* **107**, 422-432.

Cattaneo A., Capsoni S. and Paoletti F. (2008) Towards non invasive nerve growth factor therapies for Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* **15**, 255-283.

Chatterton J. E., Awobuluyi M., Premkumar L. S., Takahashi H., Talantova M., Shin Y., Cui J., Tu S., Sevarino K. A., Nakanishi N., Tong G., Lipton S. A. and Zhang D. (2002) Excitatory glycine receptors containing the NR3 family of NMDA receptor subunits. *Nature* **415**, 793-798.

Chaudhuri T. K. and Paul S. (2006) Protein-misfolding diseases and chaperone-based therapeutic approaches. *Febs J* 273, 1331-1349.

Chen Q., Nakajima A., Choi S. H., Xiong X., Sisodia S. S. and Tang Y. P. (2008) Adult neurogenesis is functionally associated with AD-like neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol Dis* **29**, 316-326.

Chen R. W., Qin Z. H., Ren M., Kanai H., Chalecka-Franaszek E., Leeds P. and Chuang D. M. (2003) Regulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase, p38 kinase and AP-1 DNA binding in cultured brain neurons: roles in glutamate excitotoxicity and lithium neuroprotection. *J Neurochem* **84**, 566-575.

Citron M. (2004) Beta-secretase inhibition for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease--promise and challenge. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **25**, 92-97.

Cui W., Cui G. Z., Li W., Zhang Z., Hu S., Mak S., Zhang H., Carlier P. R., Choi C. L., Wong Y. T., Lee S. M. and Han Y. (2011) Bis(12)-hupyridone, a novel multifunctional dimer, promotes neuronal differentiation more potently than its monomeric natural analog huperzine A possibly through alpha7 nAChR. *Brain Res* **1401**, 10-17.

Cui W., Zhang Z., Li W., Hu S., Mak S., Zhang H., Han R., Yuan S., Li S., Sa F., Xu D., Lin Z., Zuo Z., Rong J., Ma E. D., Choi T. C., Lee S. M. and Han Y. (2012) The anti-cancer agent SU4312 unexpectedly protects against MPP(+) -induced neurotoxicity via selective and direct inhibition of neuronal NOS. *Br J Pharmacol* **168**, 1201-1214.

Daniele S., Lecca D., Trincavelli M. L., Ciampi O., Abbracchio M. P. and Martini C. (2010) Regulation of PC12 cell survival and differentiation by the new P2Y-like receptor GPR17. *Cell Signal* **22**, 697-706.

Das K. P., Freudenrich T. M. and Mundy W. R. (2004) Assessment of PC12 cell differentiation and neurite growth: a comparison of morphological and neurochemical measures. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* **26**, 397-406.

Doraiswamy P. M. and Xiong G. L. (2006) Pharmacological strategies for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* **7**, 1-10.

Dudek H., Datta S. R., Franke T. F., Birnbaum M. J., Yao R., Cooper G. M., Segal R. A., Kaplan D. R. and Greenberg M. E. (1997) Regulation of neuronal survival by the serine-threonine protein kinase Akt. *Science* **275**, 661-665.

Ekshyyan O. and Aw T. Y. (2004) Apoptosis: a key in neurodegenerative disorders. *Curr Neurovasc Res* **1**, 355-371.

Evans N. A., Facci L., Owen D. E., Soden P. E., Burbidge S. A., Prinjha R. K., Richardson J. C. and Skaper S. D. (2008) Abeta(1-42) reduces synapse number and inhibits neurite outgrowth in primary cortical and hippocampal neurons: a quantitative analysis. *J Neurosci Methods* **175**, 96-103.

Fang M., Li J., Tiu S. C., Zhang L., Wang M. and Yew D. T. (2005) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor and apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease and multiinfarct dementia. *J Neurosci Res* **81**, 269-274.

Feng Y., Wang X. P., Yang S. G., Wang Y. J., Zhang X., Du X. T., Sun X. X., Zhao M., Huang L. and Liu R. T. (2009) Resveratrol inhibits beta-amyloid oligomeric cytotoxicity but does not prevent oligomer formation. *Neurotoxicology* **30**, 986-995.

Ferencik M., Novak M., Rovensky J. and Rybar I. (2001) Alzheimer's disease, inflammation and

non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Bratisl Lek Listy 102, 123-132.

Ferri C. P., Prince M., Brayne C., Brodaty H., Fratiglioni L., Ganguli M., Hall K., Hasegawa K., Hendrie H., Huang Y., Jorm A., Mathers C., Menezes P. R., Rimmer E. and Scazufca M. (2005) Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. *Lancet* **366**, 2112-2117.

Forder J. P. and Tymianski M. (2009) Postsynaptic mechanisms of excitotoxicity: Involvement of postsynaptic density proteins, radicals, and oxidant molecules. *Neuroscience* **158**, 293-300.

Francis P. T. (2003) Glutamatergic systems in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 18, S15-21.

Frank B. and Gupta S. (2005) A review of antioxidants and Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Clin Psychiatry* **17**, 269-286.

Friedman W. J. (2000) Neurotrophins induce death of hippocampal neurons via the p75 receptor. *J Neurosci* **20**, 6340-6346.

Fu H., Dou J., Li W., Luo J., Li K. C., Lam C. S., Lee N. T., Li M. and Han Y. (2008) Mecamylamine prevents neuronal apoptosis induced by glutamate and low potassium via differential anticholinergic-independent mechanisms. *Neuropharmacology* **54**, 755-765.

Fu H., Li W., Lao Y., Luo J., Lee N. T., Kan K. K., Tsang H. W., Tsim K. W., Pang Y., Li Z., Chang D. C., Li M. and Han Y. (2006) Bis(7)-tacrine attenuates beta amyloid-induced neuronal apoptosis by regulating L-type calcium channels. *J Neurochem* **98**, 1400-1410.

Gallo V., Ciotti M. T., Coletti A., Aloisi F. and Levi G. (1982) Selective release of glutamate from cerebellar granule cells differentiating in culture. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **79**, 7919-7923.

Gasparini L., Ongini E. and Wenk G. (2004) Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in Alzheimer's disease: old and new mechanisms of action. *J Neurochem* **91**, 521-536.

Gilgun-Sherki Y., Melamed E. and Offen D. (2003) Antioxidant treatment in Alzheimer's disease: current state. *J Mol Neurosci* **21**, 1-11.

Goedert M. and Spillantini M. G. (2006) A century of Alzheimer's disease. Science 314, 777-781.

Golde T. E. (2009) The therapeutic importance of understanding mechanisms of neuronal cell death in neurodegenerative disease. *Mol Neurodegener* **4**, 8.

Gong Y., Chang L., Viola K. L., Lacor P. N., Lambert M. P., Finch C. E., Krafft G. A. and Klein W. L. (2003) Alzheimer's disease-affected brain: presence of oligomeric A beta ligands (ADDLs) suggests a molecular basis for reversible memory loss. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 10417-10422.

Greene L. A. and Tischler A. S. (1976) Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **73**, 2424-2428.

Hampel H., Ewers M., Burger K., Annas P., Mortberg A., Bogstedt A., Frolich L., Schroder J., Schonknecht P., Riepe M. W., Kraft I., Gasser T., Leyhe T., Moller H. J., Kurz A. and Basun H. (2009) Lithium trial in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, single-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter 10-week study. *J Clin Psychiatry* **70**, 922-931.

Han R. W., Zhang R. S., Chang M., Peng Y. L., Wang P., Hu S. Q., Choi C. L., Yin M., Wang R. and Han Y. F. (2012) Reversal of scopolamine-induced spatial and recognition memory deficits in mice by novel multifunctional dimers bis-cognitins. *Brain Res* **1470**, 59-68.

Hellweg R., Wirth Y., Janetzky W. and Hartmann S. (2012) Efficacy of memantine in delaying clinical worsening in Alzheimer's disease (AD): responder analyses of nine clinical trials with patients with moderate to severe AD. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* **27**, 651-656.

Herz J. (2007) Overview: the long and winding road to understanding Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* **53**, 477-479.

Hickey M. A. and Chesselet M. F. (2003) Apoptosis in Huntington's disease. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* **27**, 255-265.

Hilton G. D., Nunez J. L., Bambrick L., Thompson S. M. and McCarthy M. M. (2006) Glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity in neonatal hippocampal neurons is mediated by mGluR-induced release of Ca++ from intracellular stores and is prevented by estradiol. *Eur J Neurosci* 24, 3008-3016.

Hirata K., Yamaguchi H., Takamura Y., Takagi A., Fukushima T., Iwakami N., Saitoh A., Nakagawa M. and Yamada T. (2005) A novel neurotrophic agent, T-817MA [1-{3-[2-(1-benzothiophen-5-yl) ethoxy] propyl}-3-azetidinol maleate], attenuates amyloid-beta-induced neurotoxicity and promotes neurite outgrowth in rat cultured central nervous system neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **314**, 252-259.

Holmes K., Roberts O. L., Thomas A. M. and Cross M. J. (2007) Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2: structure, function, intracellular signalling and therapeutic inhibition. *Cell Signal* **19**, 2003-2012.

Hu S., Han R., Mak S. and Han Y. (2011) Protection against 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP+)-induced apoptosis by water extract of ginseng (Panax ginseng C.A. Meyer) in SH-SY5Y cells. *J Ethnopharmacol* **135**, 34-42.

Hu S., Cui W., Mak S., Tang J., Choi C., Pang Y. and Han Y. (2013) Bis(propyl)-cognitin protects against glutamate-induced neuro-excitotoxicity via concurrent regulation of NO, MAPK/ERK and PI3-K/Akt/GSK3beta pathways. *Neurochem Int* **62**, 468-477.

Imbimbo B. P. (2009) An update on the efficacy of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* **18**, 1147-1168.

Inestrosa N. C., Sagal J. P. and Colombres M. (2005) Acetylcholinesterase interaction with Alzheimer amyloid beta. *Subcell Biochem* **38**, 299-317.

Isaac M. G., Quinn R. and Tabet N. (2008) Vitamin E for Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD002854.

Jana S. and Paliwal J. (2007) Apoptosis: potential therapeutic targets for new drug discovery. *Curr Med Chem* **14**, 2369-2379.

Jin K., Zhu Y., Sun Y., Mao X. O., Xie L. and Greenberg D. A. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**, 11946-11950.

Johnson K. A., Conn P. J. and Niswender C. M. (2009) Glutamate receptors as therapeutic targets for Parkinson's disease. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets* **8**, 475-491.

Joshi A., Ringman J. M., Lee A. S., Juarez K. O. and Mendez M. F. (2012) Comparison of clinical characteristics between familial and non-familial early onset Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurol* **259**, 2182-2188.

Keck P. J., Hauser S. D., Krivi G., Sanzo K., Warren T., Feder J. and Connolly D. T. (1989) Vascular permeability factor, an endothelial cell mitogen related to PDGF. *Science* **246**, 1309-1312.

Kilic E., Kilic U., Wang Y., Bassetti C. L., Marti H. H. and Hermann D. M. (2006) The phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/Akt pathway mediates VEGF's neuroprotective activity and induces blood brain barrier permeability after focal cerebral ischemia. *Faseb J* **20**, 1185-1187.

Kingwell K. (2013) Alzheimer disease: Alzheimer disease biomarkers in healthy individuals can predict cognitive decline several years later. *Nat Rev Neurol*.

Kolch W. (2000) Meaningful relationships: the regulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway by protein interactions. *Biochem J* **351 Pt 2**, 289-305.

Kontush A. and Schekatolina S. (2008) An update on using vitamin E in Alzheimer's disease. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* **3**, 261-271.

Kontush K. and Schekatolina S. (2004) Vitamin E in neurodegenerative disorders: Alzheimer's disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1031**, 249-262.

Lai H. C., Wu M. J., Chen P. Y., Sheu T. T., Chiu S. P., Lin M. H., Ho C. T. and Yen J. H. (2011) Neurotrophic effect of citrus 5-hydroxy-3,6,7,8,3',4'-hexamethoxyflavone: promotion of neurite outgrowth via cAMP/PKA/CREB pathway in PC12 cells. *PLoS One* **6**, e28280.

Lambert J. C., Araria-Goumidi L., Myllykangas L., Ellis C., Wang J. C., Bullido M. J., Harris J. M., Artiga M. J., Hernandez D., Kwon J. M., Frigard B., Petersen R. C., Cumming A. M., Pasquier F., Sastre I., Tienari P. J., Frank A., Sulkava R., Morris J. C., St Clair D., Mann D. M., Wavrant-DeVrieze F., Ezquerra-Trabalon M., Amouyel P., Hardy J., Haltia M., Valdivieso F., Goate A. M., Perez-Tur J., Lendon C. L. and Chartier-Harlin M. C. (2002) Contribution of APOE promoter polymorphisms to Alzheimer's disease risk. *Neurology* **59**, 59-66.

Lee J. H., Lee E. O., Kang J. L. and Chong Y. H. (2008) Concomitant degradation of beta-catenin and GSK-3 beta potently contributes to glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in rat hippocampal slice cultures. *J Neurochem* **106**, 1066-1077.

Levine A. J. and Battista M. (2004) Estrogen replacement therapy: effects on the cognitive functioning and clinical course of women with Alzheimer's disease. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* **19**, 769-778.

Li F. and Tsien J. Z. (2009) Memory and the NMDA receptors. N Engl J Med 361, 302-303.

Li W., Pi R., Chan H. H., Fu H., Lee N. T., Tsang H. W., Pu Y., Chang D. C., Li C., Luo J., Xiong K., Li Z., Xue H., Carlier P. R., Pang Y., Tsim K. W., Li M. and Han Y. (2005) Novel dimeric acetylcholinesterase inhibitor bis7-tacrine, but not donepezil, prevents glutamate-induced neuronal apoptosis by blocking N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. *J Biol Chem* **280**, 18179-18188.

Li W., Xue J., Niu C., Fu H., Lam C. S., Luo J., Chan H. H., Xue H., Kan K. K., Lee N. T., Li C., Pang Y., Li M., Tsim K. W., Jiang H., Chen K., Li X. and Han Y. (2007) Synergistic neuroprotection by bis(7)-tacrine via concurrent blockade of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors and neuronal nitric-oxide synthase. *Mol Pharmacol* **71**, 1258-1267.

Lin M. T. and Beal M. F. (2006) Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature* **443**, 787-795.

Lipton S. A. (2004) Paradigm shift in NMDA receptor antagonist drug development: molecular mechanism of uncompetitive inhibition by memantine in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease and other neurologic disorders. *J Alzheimers Dis* **6**, S61-74.

Lipton S. A. (2007a) Pathologically activated therapeutics for neuroprotection. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 8, 803-808.

Lipton S. A. (2007b) Pathologically-activated therapeutics for neuroprotection: mechanism of NMDA receptor block by memantine and S-nitrosylation. *Curr Drug Targets* **8**, 621-632.

Luo J., Li W., Zhao Y., Fu H., Ma D. L., Tang J., Li C., Peoples R. W., Li F., Wang Q., Huang P., Xia J., Pang Y. and Han Y. (2010) Pathologically activated neuroprotection via uncompetitive blockade of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors with fast off-rate by novel multifunctional dimer bis(propyl)-cognitin. *J Biol Chem* **285**, 19947-19958.

Maggini M., Vanacore N. and Raschetti R. (2006) Cholinesterase inhibitors: drugs looking for a disease? *PLoS Med* **3**, e140.

Mangialasche F., Solomon A., Winblad B., Mecocci P. and Kivipelto M. (2010) Alzheimer's disease: clinical trials and drug development. *Lancet Neurol* **9**, 702-716.

Marinova-Mutafchieva L., Sadeghian M., Broom L., Davis J. B., Medhurst A. D. and Dexter D. T. (2009) Relationship between microglial activation and dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia

nigra: a time course study in a 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 110, 966-975.

Maruoka H., Sasaya H., Shimamura Y., Nakatani Y., Shimoke K. and Ikeuchi T. (2010) Dibutyryl-cAMP up-regulates nur77 expression via histone modification during neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells. *J Biochem* **148**, 93-101.

Matsuzaki H., Tamatani M., Yamaguchi A., Namikawa K., Kiyama H., Vitek M. P., Mitsuda N. and Tohyama M. (2001) Vascular endothelial growth factor rescues hippocampal neurons from glutamate-induced toxicity: signal transduction cascades. *Faseb J* **15**, 1218-1220.

Mattson M. P. (2000) Apoptosis in neurodegenerative disorders. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1, 120-129.

Mattson M. P. (2008) Glutamate and neurotrophic factors in neuronal plasticity and disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1144**, 97-112.

Maycotte P., Guemez-Gamboa A. and Moran J. (2010) Apoptosis and autophagy in rat cerebellar granule neuron death: Role of reactive oxygen species. *J Neurosci Res* **88**, 73-85.

Mecocci P. and Polidori M. C. (2012) Antioxidant clinical trials in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1822**, 631-638.

Meredith G. E., Totterdell S., Beales M. and Meshul C. K. (2009) Impaired glutamate homeostasis and programmed cell death in a chronic MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* **219**, 334-340.

Meyer E. L., Gahring L. C. and Rogers S. W. (2002) Nicotine preconditioning antagonizes activity-dependent caspase proteolysis of a glutamate receptor. *J Biol Chem* **277**, 10869-10875.

Michaelis M. L. (2003) Drugs targeting Alzheimer's disease: some things old and some things new. J *Pharmacol Exp Ther* **304**, 897-904.

Miller M. M., Monjan A. A. and Buckholtz N. S. (2001) Estrogen replacement therapy for the potential treatment or prevention of Alzheimer's disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **949**, 223-234.

Milnerwood A. J., Kaufman A. M., Sepers M. D., Gladding C. M., Zhang L., Wang L., Fan J., Coquinco A., Qiao J. Y., Lee H., Wang Y. T., Cynader M. and Raymond L. A. (2012) Mitigation of augmented extrasynaptic NMDAR signaling and apoptosis in cortico-striatal co-cultures from Huntington's disease mice. *Neurobiol Dis* **48**, 40-51.

Misonou H., Morishima-Kawashima M. and Ihara Y. (2000) Oxidative stress induces intracellular accumulation of amyloid beta-protein (Abeta) in human neuroblastoma cells. *Biochemistry* **39**, 6951-6959.

Molinuevo J. L., Llado A. and Rami L. (2005) Memantine: targeting glutamate excitotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen* **20**, 77-85.

Montoliu C., Llansola M., Monfort P., Corbalan R., Fernandez-Marticorena I., Hernandez-Viadel M. L. and Felipo V. (2001) Role of nitric oxide and cyclic GMP in glutamate-induced neuronal death. *Neurotox Res* **3**, 179-188.

Mora A., Sabio G., Gonzalez-Polo R. A., Cuenda A., Alessi D. R., Alonso J. C., Fuentes J. M., Soler G. and Centeno F. (2001) Lithium inhibits caspase 3 activation and dephosphorylation of PKB and GSK3 induced by K+ deprivation in cerebellar granule cells. *J Neurochem* **78**, 199-206.

Mulnard R. A., Corrada M. M. and Kawas C. H. (2004) Estrogen replacement therapy, Alzheimer's disease, and mild cognitive impairment. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* **4**, 368-373.

Nakaguchi K., Masuda H., Kaneko N. and Sawamoto K. (2011) Strategies for regenerating striatal neurons in the adult brain by using endogenous neural stem cells. *Neurol Res Int* **2011**, 898012.

Nery A. A., Resende R. R., Martins A. H., Trujillo C. A., Eterovic V. A. and Ulrich H. (2010) Alpha 7

nicotinic acetylcholine receptor expression and activity during neuronal differentiation of PC12 pheochromocytoma cells. *J Mol Neurosci* **41**, 329-339.

Ngandu T., von Strauss E., Helkala E. L., Winblad B., Nissinen A., Tuomilehto J., Soininen H. and Kivipelto M. (2007) Education and dementia: what lies behind the association? *Neurology* **69**, 1442-1450.

Nijhawan D., Honarpour N. and Wang X. (2000) Apoptosis in neural development and disease. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 23, 73-87.

Nithianantharajah J. and Hannan A. J. (2009) The neurobiology of brain and cognitive reserve: mental and physical activity as modulators of brain disorders. *Prog Neurobiol* **89**, 369-382.

Oken B. S., Storzbach D. M. and Kaye J. A. (1998) The efficacy of Ginkgo biloba on cognitive function in Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* 55, 1409-1415.

Onyango I. G., Bennett J. P., Jr. and Tuttle J. B. (2005) Endogenous oxidative stress in sporadic Alzheimer's disease neuronal cybrids reduces viability by increasing apoptosis through pro-death signaling pathways and is mimicked by oxidant exposure of control cybrids. *Neurobiol Dis* **19**, 312-322.

Outeiro T. F., Kontopoulos E., Altmann S. M., Kufareva I., Strathearn K. E., Amore A. M., Volk C. B., Maxwell M. M., Rochet J. C., McLean P. J., Young A. B., Abagyan R., Feany M. B., Hyman B. T. and Kazantsev A. G. (2007) Sirtuin 2 inhibitors rescue alpha-synuclein-mediated toxicity in models of Parkinson's disease. *Science* **317**, 516-519.

Pardridge W. M. (2002) Neurotrophins, neuroprotection and the blood-brain barrier. *Curr Opin Investig* Drugs **3**, 1753-1757.

Pereira C., Ferreiro E., Cardoso S. M. and de Oliveira C. R. (2004) Cell degeneration induced by amyloid-beta peptides: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *J Mol Neurosci* 23, 97-104.

Pereira C., Agostinho P., Moreira P. I., Cardoso S. M. and Oliveira C. R. (2005) Alzheimer's disease-associated neurotoxic mechanisms and neuroprotective strategies. *Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord* **4**, 383-403.

Perez M., Hernandez F., Lim F., Diaz-Nido J. and Avila J. (2003) Chronic lithium treatment decreases mutant tau protein aggregation in a transgenic mouse model. *J Alzheimers Dis* **5**, 301-308.

Pham D. Q. and Plakogiannis R. (2005) Vitamin E supplementation in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, tardive dyskinesia, and cataract: Part 2. *Ann Pharmacother* **39**, 2065-2072.

Pi R., Li W., Lee N. T., Chan H. H., Pu Y., Chan L. N., Sucher N. J., Chang D. C., Li M. and Han Y. (2004) Minocycline prevents glutamate-induced apoptosis of cerebellar granule neurons by differential regulation of p38 and Akt pathways. *J Neurochem* **91**, 1219-1230.

Piaceri I., Nacmias B. and Sorbi S. (2013) Genetics of familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Front Biosci (Elite Ed)* **5**, 167-177.

Pievani M., Bocchetta M., Boccardi M., Cavedo E., Bonetti M., Thompson P. M. and Frisoni G. B. (2013) Striatal morphology in early-onset and late-onset Alzheimer's disease: a preliminary study. *Neurobiol Aging* **34**, 1728-1739.

Pool M., Thiemann J., Bar-Or A. and Fournier A. E. (2008) NeuriteTracer: a novel ImageJ plugin for automated quantification of neurite outgrowth. *J Neurosci Methods* **168**, 134-139.

Raff M. C., Barres B. A., Burne J. F., Coles H. S., Ishizaki Y. and Jacobson M. D. (1993) Programmed cell death and the control of cell survival: lessons from the nervous system. *Science* **262**, 695-700.

Raina A. K., Zhu X., Shimohama S., Perry G. and Smith M. A. (2003) Tipping the apoptotic balance in Alzheimer's disease: the abortosis concept. *Cell Biochem Biophys* **39**, 249-255.

Ramiro-Cortes Y. and Moran J. (2009) Role of oxidative stress and JNK pathway in apoptotic death induced by potassium deprivation and staurosporine in cerebellar granule neurons. *Neurochem Int* **55**, 581-592.

Reddy P. H. (2009) Role of mitochondria in neurodegenerative diseases: mitochondria as a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease. *CNS Spectr* **14**, 8-13; discussion 16-18.

Resende R. R., Alves A. S., Britto L. R. and Ulrich H. (2008) Role of acetylcholine receptors in proliferation and differentiation of P19 embryonal carcinoma cells. *Exp Cell Res* **314**, 1429-1443.

Rice D. P., Fillit H. M., Max W., Knopman D. S., Lloyd J. R. and Duttagupta S. (2001) Prevalence, costs, and treatment of Alzheimer's disease and related dementia: a managed care perspective. *Am J Manag Care* **7**, 809-818.

Rogawski M. A. and Wenk G. L. (2003) The neuropharmacological basis for the use of memantine in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *CNS Drug Rev* **9**, 275-308.

Rosenstein J. M., Mani N., Khaibullina A. and Krum J. M. (2003) Neurotrophic effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on organotypic cortical explants and primary cortical neurons. *J Neurosci* 23, 11036-11044.

Rossler M., Zarski R., Bohl J. and Ohm T. G. (2002) Stage-dependent and sector-specific neuronal loss in hippocampus during Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* **103**, 363-369.

Santos S. D., Verveer P. J. and Bastiaens P. I. (2007) Growth factor-induced MAPK network topology shapes Erk response determining PC-12 cell fate. *Nat Cell Biol* **9**, 324-330.

Sarina, Yagi Y., Nakano O., Hashimoto T., Kimura K., Asakawa Y., Zhong M., Narimatsu S. and Gohda E. Induction of neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells by artemisinin through activation of ERK and p38 MAPK signaling pathways. *Brain Res* **1490**, 61-71.

Schimmelpfeng J., Weibezahn K. F. and Dertinger H. (2004) Quantification of NGF-dependent neuronal differentiation of PC-12 cells by means of neurofilament-L mRNA expression and neuronal outgrowth. *J Neurosci Methods* **139**, 299-306.

Schindowski K., Belarbi K. and Buee L. (2008) Neurotrophic factors in Alzheimer's disease: role of axonal transport. *Genes Brain Behav* **7 Suppl 1**, 43-56.

Schober A. (2004) Classic toxin-induced animal models of Parkinson's disease: 6-OHDA and MPTP. *Cell Tissue Res* **318**, 215-224.

Seki M. and Lipton S. A. (2008) Targeting excitotoxic/free radical signaling pathways for therapeutic intervention in glaucoma. *Prog Brain Res* **173**, 495-510.

Selkoe D. J. (2001) Alzheimer's disease: genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev 81, 741-766.

Selkoe D. J. (2012) Preventing Alzheimer's disease. Science 337, 1488-1492.

Severini C., Ciotti M. T., Biondini L., Quaresima S., Rinaldi A. M., Levi A., Frank C. and Possenti R. (2008) TLQP-21, a neuroendocrine VGF-derived peptide, prevents cerebellar granule cells death induced by serum and potassium deprivation. *J Neurochem* **104**, 534-544.

Shen K., Ji L., Gong C., Ma Y., Yang L., Fan Y., Hou M. and Wang Z. (2012) Notoginsenoside Ft1 promotes angiogenesis via HIF-1alpha mediated VEGF secretion and the regulation of PI3K/AKT and Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathways. *Biochem Pharmacol* **84**, 784-792.

Sheng M. and Kim M. J. (2002) Postsynaptic signaling and plasticity mechanisms. *Science* 298, 776-780.

Shi G. X., Rehmann H. and Andres D. A. (2006) A novel cyclic AMP-dependent Epac-Rit signaling pathway contributes to PACAP38-mediated neuronal differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* **26**, 9136-9147. Shimohama S. (2000) Apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease--an update. *Apoptosis* **5**, 9-16.

Shimura H., Schlossmacher M. G., Hattori N., Frosch M. P., Trockenbacher A., Schneider R., Mizuno Y., Kosik K. S. and Selkoe D. J. (2001) Ubiquitination of a new form of alpha-synuclein by parkin from human brain: implications for Parkinson's disease. *Science* **293**, 263-269.

Simuni T. and Sethi K. (2008) Nonmotor manifestations of Parkinson's disease. *Ann Neurol* **64 Suppl 2**, S65-80.

Srivastava A. S., Malhotra R., Sharp J. and Berggren T. (2008) Potentials of ES cell therapy in neurodegenerative diseases. *Curr Pharm Des* 14, 3873-3879.

Stanciu M., Wang Y., Kentor R., Burke N., Watkins S., Kress G., Reynolds I., Klann E., Angiolieri M. R., Johnson J. W. and DeFranco D. B. (2000) Persistent activation of ERK contributes to glutamate-induced oxidative toxicity in a neuronal cell line and primary cortical neuron cultures. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 12200-12206.

Stanika R. I., Pivovarova N. B., Brantner C. A., Watts C. A., Winters C. A. and Andrews S. B. (2009) Coupling diverse routes of calcium entry to mitochondrial dysfunction and glutamate excitotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **106**, 9854-9859.

Storkebaum E., Lambrechts D., Dewerchin M., Moreno-Murciano M. P., Appelmans S., Oh H., Van Damme P., Rutten B., Man W. Y., De Mol M., Wyns S., Manka D., Vermeulen K., Van Den Bosch L., Mertens N., Schmitz C., Robberecht W., Conway E. M., Collen D., Moons L. and Carmeliet P. (2005) Treatment of motoneuron degeneration by intracerebroventricular delivery of VEGF in a rat model of ALS. *Nat Neurosci* **8**, 85-92.

Subramaniam S., Strelau J. and Unsicker K. (2003) Growth differentiation factor-15 prevents low potassium-induced cell death of cerebellar granule neurons by differential regulation of Akt and ERK pathways. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 8904-8912.

Svendsen C. N., Cooper J. D. and Sofroniew M. V. (1991) Trophic factor effects on septal cholinergic neurons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **640**, 91-94.

Takahashi H. and Shibuya M. (2005) The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)/VEGF receptor system and its role under physiological and pathological conditions. *Clin Sci (Lond)* **109**, 227-241.

Takahashi R. H., Almeida C. G., Kearney P. F., Yu F., Lin M. T., Milner T. A. and Gouras G. K. (2004) Oligomerization of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid within processes and synapses of cultured neurons and brain. *J Neurosci* **24**, 3592-3599.

Talesa V. N. (2001) Acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease. Mech Ageing Dev 122, 1961-1969.

Tatton W. G., Chalmers-Redman R., Brown D. and Tatton N. (2003) Apoptosis in Parkinson's disease: signals for neuronal degradation. *Ann Neurol* **53 Suppl 3**, S61-70; discussion S70-62.

Taylor J. P., Hardy J. and Fischbeck K. H. (2002) Toxic proteins in neurodegenerative disease. *Science* **296**, 1991-1995.

Thellung S., Gatta E., Pellistri F., Corsaro A., Villa V., Vassalli M., Robello M. and Florio T. (2013) Excitotoxicity through NMDA receptors mediates cerebellar granule neuron apoptosis induced by prion protein 90-231 fragment. *Neurotox Res* **23**, 301-314.

Thoenen H. and Sendtner M. (2002) Neurotrophins: from enthusiastic expectations through sobering experiences to rational therapeutic approaches. *Nat Neurosci* **5** Suppl, 1046-1050.

Tuszynski M. H., Thal L., Pay M., Salmon D. P., U H. S., Bakay R., Patel P., Blesch A., Vahlsing H. L., Ho G, Tong G, Potkin S. G, Fallon J., Hansen L., Mufson E. J., Kordower J. H., Gall C. and Conner J. (2005) A phase 1 clinical trial of nerve growth factor gene therapy for Alzheimer disease. *Nat Med* **11**, 551-555.

Uryu S., Harada J., Hisamoto M. and Oda T. (2002) Troglitazone inhibits both post-glutamate

neurotoxicity and low-potassium-induced apoptosis in cerebellar granule neurons. *Brain Res* **924**, 229-236.

Utsugisawa K., Nagane Y., Obara D. and Tohgi H. (2002) Overexpression of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor prevents G1-arrest and DNA fragmentation in PC12 cells after hypoxia. *J Neurochem* **81**, 497-505.

Varadarajan S., Yatin S., Aksenova M. and Butterfield D. A. (2000) Review: Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide-associated free radical oxidative stress and neurotoxicity. *J Struct Biol* **130**, 184-208.

Vaudry D., Stork P. J., Lazarovici P. and Eiden L. E. (2002) Signaling pathways for PC12 cell differentiation: making the right connections. *Science* **296**, 1648-1649.

Venero J. L., Knusel B., Beck K. D. and Hefti F. (1994) Expression of neurotrophin and trk receptor genes in adult rats with fimbria transections: effect of intraventricular nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor administration. *Neuroscience* **59**, 797-815.

Wang B. S., Wang H., Wei Z. H., Song Y. Y., Zhang L. and Chen H. Z. (2009) Efficacy and safety of natural acetylcholinesterase inhibitor huperzine A in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: an updated meta-analysis. *J Neural Transm* **116**, 457-465.

Wick A., Wick W., Waltenberger J., Weller M., Dichgans J. and Schulz J. B. (2002) Neuroprotection by hypoxic preconditioning requires sequential activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor and Akt. *J Neurosci* **22**, 6401-6407.

Wigdal S. S., Kirkland R. A., Franklin J. L. and Haak-Frendscho M. (2002) Cytochrome c release precedes mitochondrial membrane potential loss in cerebellar granule neuron apoptosis: lack of mitochondrial swelling. *J Neurochem* **82**, 1029-1038.

Willmot M., Gibson C., Gray L., Murphy S. and Bath P. (2005) Nitric oxide synthase inhibitors in experimental ischemic stroke and their effects on infarct size and cerebral blood flow: a systematic review. *Free Radic Biol Med* **39**, 412-425.

Witt S. N. and Flower T. R. (2006) alpha-Synuclein, oxidative stress and apoptosis from the perspective of a yeast model of Parkinson's disease. *FEMS Yeast Res* **6**, 1107-1116.

Xia P., Chen H. S., Zhang D. and Lipton S. A. (2010) Memantine preferentially blocks extrasynaptic over synaptic NMDA receptor currents in hippocampal autapses. *J Neurosci* **30**, 11246-11250.

Yamagata K., Urakami K., Ikeda K., Ji Y., Adachi Y., Arai H., Sasaki H., Sato K. and Nakashima K. (2001) High expression of apolipoprotein E mRNA in the brains with sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* **12**, 57-62.

Yao L., Li W., She H., Dou J., Jia L., He Y., Yang Q., Zhu J., Capiro N. L., Walker D. I., Pennell K. D., Pang Y., Liu Y., Han Y. and Mao Z. (2012) Activation of transcription factor MEF2D by bis(3)-cognitin protects dopaminergic neurons and ameliorates Parkinsonian motor defects. *J Biol Chem* **287**, 34246-34255.

Yeste-Velasco M., Folch J., Casadesus G., Smith M. A., Pallas M. and Camins A. (2009) Neuroprotection by c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase inhibitor SP600125 against potassium deprivation-induced apoptosis involves the Akt pathway and inhibition of cell cycle reentry. *Neuroscience* **159**, 1135-1147.

Yu O. and Chuang D. M. (1997) Neurotrophin protection against toxicity induced by low potassium and nitroprusside in cultured cerebellar granule neurons. *J Neurochem* **68**, 68-77.

Zachary I. (2005) Neuroprotective role of vascular endothelial growth factor: signalling mechanisms, biological function, and therapeutic potential. *Neurosignals* **14**, 207-221.

Zhang X. J., Yang L., Zhao Q., Caen J. P., He H. Y., Jin Q. H., Guo L. H., Alemany M., Zhang L. Y. and

Shi Y. F. (2002) Induction of acetylcholinesterase expression during apoptosis in various cell types. *Cell Death Differ* **9**, 790-800.

Zhao Y., Dou J., Luo J., Li W., Chan H. H., Cui W., Zhang H., Han R., Carlier P. R., Zhang X. and Han Y. (2012) Neuroprotection against excitotoxic and ischemic insults by bis(12)-hupyridone, a novel anti-acetylcholinesterase dimer, possibly via acting on multiple targets. *Brain Res* **1421**, 100-109.

Zhong J., Yao W. and Lee W. (2007) Cesium chloride protects cerebellar granule neurons from apoptosis induced by low potassium. *Int J Dev Neurosci* **25**, 359-365.

Zhong J., Deng J., Huang S., Yang X. and Lee W. H. (2004) High K+ and IGF-1 protect cerebellar granule neurons via distinct signaling pathways. *J Neurosci Res* **75**, 794-806.

Zhu D., Jiang X., Wu X., Tian F., Mearow K., Lipsky R. H. and Marini A. M. (2004) Inhibition of protein kinase C promotes neuronal survival in low potassium through an Akt-dependent pathway. *Neurotox Res* **6**, 281-289.

Zilkova M., Koson P. and Zilka N. (2006) The hunt for dying neurons: insight into the neuronal loss in Alzheimer's disease. *Bratisl Lek Listy* **107**, 366-373.